

Request for Proposal for

Appointment of Consultant for Digital Transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation

RFP Ref. No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

Last date for submission of proposals: 17.04.2024 up to 04:00 PM

This RFP document will be available for downloading at https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in

Table of Contents

SI. No.				
_	Schedule of Events for Submission of Bids	No. 4		
_	Notice Inviting e-Tender	5		
1	Introduction	6		
1.1	About Kerala Financial Corporation			
1.2	Introduction to RFP Document			
1.3	Disclaimer			
1.4	For Respondent only	8		
2	Project Overview & Objectives	8		
3	Scope of Work	8		
3.1	Activities under the scope	18		
4	Technical Requirements Scope	21		
5	Terms & Conditions for e-Procurement	22		
5.1	Online Bidder Registration Process	22		
5.2	Online Tender Process	22		
5.3	Documents Comprising Bid	23		
5.4	Tender Document Fees & Earnest Money Deposit (EMD)	23		
5.5	Submission Process	24		
6	Overview of the Selection Process	24		
6.1	Issue of RFP	24		
6.2	Submission of Queries	24		
6.3	Online Pre-Bid Meeting	25		
6.4	Issue of Corrigendum to RFP, if required	25		
6.5	Submission of Response	25		
6.6	Validity of Proposals Submitted	26		
6.7	Eligibility Assessment	26		
6.8	Demonstration for Bidder Evaluation	27		
6.9	QCBS with Reverse Auction	28		
6.10	Technical Bid Evaluation	28		
6.11	Financial Bid Evaluation	29		
6.12	Combined Technical & Financial Score (CTFS)	29		
6.13	Award of Contract	30		
6.14	Performance Bank Guarantee	30		
6.15	Service Level Agreement and Non-Disclosure Agreement	30		
7	Payment Terms	31		
8	General Terms & Conditions	31		
8.1	Dispute Resolution	31		
8.2	Governing Law & Jurisdiction of Court	32		
8.3	Legal Compliance	32		
8.4	Entire Agreement & Amendment	33		
8.5	Severability	33		
8.6	Non-Exclusivity	33		
8.7	Assignment	33		
8.8	Force Majeure	33		
8.9	Termination	34		
	Limitation of Liability	36		
	Indemnity	36		
	Confidentiality	37		
8.13	Privacy & Security Safeguards	38		

8.14	Successful Bidder's Personnel	38
8.15	Background Check	38
8.16	Substitution of Team Members	39
8.17	Conflict of Interest	39
8.18	Notices and Other Communication	39
8.19	Publicity	39
8.20	Intellectual Property Rights	39
8.21	Audit	40
8.22	Penalty and Liquidated Damages	40
	Corrupt and Fraudulent Practices	41
8.24	Expenses and Taxes included in the Quoted Price	41
8.25	Data Protection	41
8.26	Violation of Terms	42
8.27	Authorized Signatory	42
8.28	Principal to Principal Liability	42
8.29	Taxes and Duties	42
8.30	Standards	43
8.31	Escalation Matrix	43
-	Annexure 1 -Checklist Submission	44
-	Annexure 2 – Tender Offer Covering Letter	46
-	Annexure 3 – Profile of the Bidder	48
-	Annexure 4 - Pre-Qualification Compliance Sheet	50
-	Annexure 5 -Turnover, P&L and Net worth Certificate	52
-	Annexure 6 – Experience Details	53
-	Annexure 7 – Undertaking / Declaration	54
-	Annexure 8 – Technical Qualification Compliance Sheet	55
-	Annexure 9 -Profile of Proposed Team Leader & Team Members	57
-	Annexure 10 -Financial Bid	58
	Annexure 11 – Performance Bank Guarantee	59
-	Annexure 12 – Integrity Pact	61
-	Annexure 13 – Non-Disclosure Agreement Format	66

SCHEDULE OF EVENTS FOR SUBMISSION OF BIDS

Note: Bids once submitted will be treated as final and no further correspondence will be entertained on this. No bid will be modified after submission of bids. No bidder shall be allowed to withdraw the bid.

Notice Inviting E- Tender

This tender is an e-Tender and is being published online for the Digital Transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation. The documents may be downloaded from the website https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in.

Application for this RFP supported by prescribed annexure shall be submitted through the e-procurement portal of the Government of Kerala. The bid applications will be received till 04.00 PM on 17.04.2024. The bidder must submit their application complete in all respects as per instructions contained in the tender document on or before the closing date and time. The bidders are advised to keep visiting the website https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in from time to time (till the deadline for bid submission) for any updates in respect of the RFP document notice, if any. Failure to do so shall not absolve the applicant of his liabilities to submit the RFP document complete in all respects including updates thereof, if any. An incomplete application is liable for rejection. Applications received through modes of communication other than the prescribed mode shall be treated as invalid and rejected.

The Kerala Financial Corporation reserves the right to verify the particulars furnished by the bidder independently. If any information furnished by the bidder is found incorrect at a later stage, he shall be debarred from tendering and taking up of any work in the KFC.

The Chairman & Managing Director, KFC reserves the right to reject any or all prospective application without assigning any reason and to restrict the list of prequalified firms to any number deemed suitable.

Chairman & Managing Director

Kerala Financial Corporation

Thiruvananthapuram

13.03.2024

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 About Kerala Financial Corporation

Kerala Financial Corporation (KFC), incorporated under the State Financial Corporations Act of 1951, is a public sector enterprise under the administrative control of Government of Kerala with the objective of promoting Industrialization of the State by extending financial assistance to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises in the manufacturing and service sectors. The financial assistance is provided in the form of term loans, working capital loans and special schemes. The organizational structure of the Corporation consists of 21 Branch Offices across Kerala with its Head Quarters at Thiruvananthapuram and Zonal Offices at Kozhikode, Ernakulam & Kollam. The loan portfolio of the Corporation as on 31st March 2023 is Rs.6529.40 crore. The Corporation has set the target of increasing the portfolio size to Rs.10,000 crore in the next two years.

As on 31st March 2023, the Corporation's total share capital was Rs.626.50 crore. The Government of Kerala hold 99.01% of the total shareholding, Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI) hold 0.98%, while the LIC, State Bank of India and others hold 0.01%.

The Net worth stands at Rs 925.70 crore and CRAR is 25.58% as of March 2023. The operating profit has increased to Rs.136.02 crore as of March 2023 compared to Rs. 91.82 crore as of March 2022 and net profit increased to Rs.50.19 crore as of March 2023 from Rs.13.20 crore in March 2022.

Asset quality in terms of gross NPA as a percentage of loan portfolio outstanding is 3.11% as of March 2023 compared to 3.27% as of March 2022 and Net NPA was .74% as of March 2023 as compared to 1.28% as of March 2022.

Key Financial Parameters

Rs in Lakh

Key Parameters	2022-23	2021-22	2020-21
Portfolio Size	6,52,940.30	4,75,071.41	462112.51
Sanctions	3,20,722.18	2,87,678.86	414648.56
Disbursements	3,55,594.61	2,17,520.16	370921.22
Recovery	2,33,241.69	2,43,046.80	285128.94
Total Income	69,437.51	51,816.81	49094.29
Net profit after tax	5,018.64	1,319.80	657.93
Net worth	92,570.25	69,402.63	68118.22
Capital Adequacy Ratio %	25.58	22.41	22.85
Gross NPA as % of Gross Advances	3.11	3.27	3.58
Net NPA as % of Net Advances	0.74	1.28	1.48

The Corporation currently utilizes the 'Core Financial Solutions' (CFS) software, originally developed by TCS, for the Core Banking System. This application is now managed internally by the KFC IT team. In addition to core banking functions, the system handles activities related to HR, PF and payroll etc. Several digital channels have been developed around this core system, including loan origination, processing,

and management systems, which manage the entire lifecycle of loans from sanction to closure.

1.2 Introduction to RFP Document

This Request for Proposal (RFP) document has been prepared solely for the purpose of enabling Kerala Financial Corporation (hereafter referred to as "Corporation") to appoint a Consultant for digital transformation of the Corporation. The RFP document is not a recommendation, offer or invitation to enter into a contract, agreement or any other arrangement, in respect of the services. The provision of the services is subject to observance of selection process and appropriate documentation being agreed between the Corporation and any successful Bidder as identified by the Corporation, after completion of the selection process as detailed in this document.

1.3 Disclaimer

The RFP document contains statements derived from information that is believed to be true and reliable at the date obtained but does not purport to provide all of the information that may be necessary or desirable to enable an intending contracting party to determine whether or not to enter into a contract or arrangement with the Corporation in relation to the provision of services. While the RFP document has been prepared in good faith, no representation or warranty, express or implied, is or will be made, and no responsibility or liability will be accepted by the Corporation or any of its directors, employees or representatives, in relation to the accuracy or completeness of this document and any liability thereof expressly disclaimed. Each Bidder may conduct its own independent investigations and analysis and is free to check the accuracy, reliability, and completeness of the information in this RFP.

The information in this RFP document provided to bidders or applicants whether verbally or in documentary form by or on behalf of the Corporation, is provided to the bidder(s) on the terms and conditions set out in this RFP document and all other terms and conditions subject to which such information is provided.

The information contained in the RFP document is selective and is subject to updation, expansion, revision, and amendment. It does not purport to contain all the information that a Bidder require. The Corporation does not undertake to provide any Bidder with access to any additional information or to update the information in the RFP document, which may become apparent. The Corporation in its absolute discretion, but without being under any obligation to do so, update, amend or supplement the information in this RFP. Such change will be published on the Corporation's Website and it will become part and parcel of RFP.

The RFP is not an offer by the Corporation, but an invitation for bidders' responses. No contractual obligation on behalf of the Corporation, whatsoever, shall arise from the offer process unless and until a formal contract is signed and executed by duly authorized officials of Kerala Financial Corporation and the Bidder.

The Corporation reserves the right to reject any or all the expression of interest / proposals received in response to this RFP document at any stage without assigning any reason whatsoever. The decision of the Corporation shall be final, conclusive and binding on all the parties.

1.4 For Respondent Only

The RFP document is intended solely for the information of the party to whom it is issued ("the Recipient" or "the Respondent" or "Bidder") and no other person or organization.

2. Project Overview & Objectives

Kerala Financial Corporation is a strategically important financial institution in the State of Kerala, contributing towards the economic, industrial and social development of the State by extending financial assistance to the micro, small and medium enterprises in the manufacturing and service sectors. With the aim of extending seamless customer-friendly service to the borrowers and to remain updated with the latest technology developments, an overall digital transformation has been proposed by the Corporation. The Digital Business Transformation should be a powerful catalyst to Business Growth in terms of Revenues, Income streams, Market Share, Business Segments, Opportunities and Volumes to propel the Corporation to Higher Growth Trajectory. This Digitization would require formulating the Digital Strategy aligned with the Corporation's Business Vision, conduct gap analysis, Identify and Redefine the Business Model and Customer Experience journeys across various sectors, etc.

The Corporation intends to engage a consultant for this digital transformation and is looking forward to achieve the following objectives:

- a) Achieving the Corporation's vision of Business growth through Digital Business Strategy and Transformation.
- b) Building Digital capability for self-sustenance of the Corporation
- c) Streamline the implementation of a standard Core Banking Solution that caters the existing business processes of KFC in the most effective way without any disruption to the operations of the Corporation.
- d) Defining strategy to digitalize and streamline the lending process from loan origination, sanction, disbursal and monitoring.
- e) Improving the TAT for loan processing& sanction.
- f) Data analytics powered credit decision making.
- g) Empowering the customers to avail all the credit requirements at their convenience.
- h) Digitizing the Whole Business of the Corporation Converting Traditional Business Models into Seamless Digital Platform
- i) Implementation roadmap for Digital Products and Digital Journeys.
- j) Retaining existing customers and Attracting New Customers through Digital Modes, Enhancing Customer engagement and Customer Convenience.
- k) Ease to Transact: Anytime, Anywhere, Any Channel, Any Device etc.

As such, the purpose of this Request for Proposal (RFP) document is to enable the Corporation to accomplish the above tasks well in time with the help of competent consultancy services.

3. Scope of Work

The Bidder will be responsible for designing and guiding with the necessary recommendations given to improve the aspects required for digital transformation of all the major areas covering business, support & control functions of the Corporation, planning and implementation.

This would enable creation of a digitally enabled State Financial Corporation with business scale comparable to the competitor banks and enable the Corporation to compete effectively in the State of Kerala.

In all the proposed areas, the Bidder would recommend strategies and drive coordination keeping in view the immediate term goal and the long-term goal of attaining a vibrant fast growing digital organization. Further, each recommendation should be backed by Cost benefit analysis for the Corporation and the recommendations, should also include the detailed requirements of system/ hardware/ networking/ configuration requirements etc i.e., end to end recommendation.

A brief list of deliverables is outlined below:

- A) Study the processes and operations of the Corporation and analyse the gaps in the implementation of a standard Core Banking Solution and formulate strategies for the smooth transition to CBS.
- B) Define, design and support to implement digitalized Lending Process from loan origination, sanction, disbursal & monitoring till loan closure.
- C) Define, design, support the implementation of customer journeys for digital lending & digital liabilities, enhancement of alternate delivery channels (ADC) and adoption of new digital channels.
- D) Devise strategy for in-house skill development/capacity building/training & change management for roll out of customer journey
- E) Support Fin-Tech & Vendor On-boarding.
- F) Planning for Digital Transformation Roadmap.
- G) Devise strategy for digital marketing/social media to popularize Corporation's product & services and on boarding of new customers.
- H) Support training & change management for roll out of customer journeys and to operationalize digital organization.
- I) Define clear timelines/roadmap for end-to-end implementation of the suggestions/recommendations.

A) Study the processes and operations of the Corporation and analyse the gaps in the implementation of Core Banking Solution and formulate strategies for the smooth transition to CBS.

- The consultant is expected to study the processes and operations of the Corporation as a whole; Organization Structure, Branch Offices, Zonal Offices, Head Office, Corporation's Businesses like Advances, Profit, NPAs, Ratios, Customer Base, Channels adoption numbers, Third-party products like Insurance, Fee based income, Govt. Business, etc.
- Detailed assessment of current capabilities of Corporation's Advances highlighting the criticality of pain points for customers, potential business benefit from digitization.
- Define the metrics to be tracked and setup the governance mechanism and support building of dashboards for management. Consultant to monitor adoption, issues faced and carry out course correction, if required.
- Review of existing system from the perspective of underlying dependencies in current processing and providing suitable recommendations for enhancement and replacement. In case of replacement, migration plan to be provided

B) Design of Digitalized Lending Process from loan origination, sanction, disbursal & monitoring till loan closure.

- 1. Understand the existing Products, Processes, Services, Skill sets, Business Models, and Customer Experience with respect to the proposed strategy for Digital Business Transformation.
- 2. Identify products/ processes available in the Corporation which have the potential to be digitized and draw out plan for their implementation.
- 3. Support design of Operational and Credit Policies for Digital Lending Products, such as:
 - Support Corporation's Business Development team for design of preapproved models.
 - Support Corporation's Business Development team to design digital score cards for screening at own channels/ third party sourcing journeys in line with Risk Management Policy of the Corporation.
 - Support design of Product Notes for digital lending journeys for each phase
- 4. Identify issues and re-design customer functionalities and experience. Define functional design for the lending processes including end-state design and wireframes and to define stage-wise plan for implementation
- 5. Devise end to end customer journeys for select prioritized journeys:
 - Study the existing loan appraisal process (underwriting) and redefine the process with minimum degree of manual intervention
 - \circ Design user friendly process flow from sourcing of application to disbursal with minimum steps
 - o Identify possible hurdles likely to be faced by stakeholders
 - o Formulate separate journeys for existing and new customers
 - The designs of the customer journey should be such that there is reduction in TAT, a better customer experience, decrease in operational cost to KFC and reduced operational risk
 - o Design/ redesign user-friendly applications formats
 - Devise clearly defined timelines for each customer journey
 - o Define specific functionality for each identified initiative
 - Design the process flow and rollout plan for the identified products and processes.
- 6. Specify technology solutions to be set up to address gaps in overall architecture including future-ready Loan Origination System (for application processing), engagement layer applications and API Management Gateway.
- 7. Study the existing disbursement process with a view to
 - o Digitize execution of documents
 - o Reduce/ eliminate manual interventions
 - Reduce TAT (Turn Around Time).
- 8. Provide statutory clarity/ regulatory interface on various issues relating to digital lending business.

Study the features in the existing systems/ modifications required which are:

1. Loan Origination System

- Client LOS: Provision to register a loan enquiry by the customer.
- Provision for a customer to track the application from enquiry till disbursement.
- Bank LOS: Preliminary screening of the enquiry by KFC official based on the CIBIL score.

2. Loan Processing System

- Detailed due diligence using the data available from various channels such as MCA, CIBIL, GST, Bank statement etc.
- EKYC/CKYC
- Loan appraisal based on the cost of project.
- Credit rating and appraisal as per the policies of KFC.
- Collateral management.
- Digital document execution.
- Customer management.
- Loan application processing and sanctioning.

3. Loan Management System

- Disbursement
- Repayment
- Renewal
- Restructuring
- Rebate
- Subsidy
- Refund
- Closure
- Recovery
- Onetime settlement
- Line of credit management
- Ledger scrutiny
- Trial Balance
- Account Finalization
- Balance sheet.
- Profit and Loss statement
- Account Reconciliation.
- Operational analysis.
- Day end /Month end /Year end processing.

4. Loan Monitoring System.

- SMA Monitoring with early warning mechanism.
- NPA Management.
- NPA provisioning.

5. Digital banking system

- Web portal/Mobile app for the customer.
- Facility for digital loan repayment.
- API Banking integration for fund transfer.
- Virtual account management for remittance.

6. MIS

Reports in EXCEL/PDF/DOC format.

7. General

- Document Management System for storing documents.
- Communication Management System for Alerts
- Consumer/Commercial CIBIL data updation.
- Asset management System
- Centralized payment management system.
- Court case management system.
- Provision to handle various kinds of MSME loan schemes, Term Loans, Working capital Loans, Revolving Loans, Bill discounting etc.
- Capability to integrate with MSME related external portals like Udhyam portal, MCA, Probe42 etc.
- Provision to configure various financial formats, CMA formats, facility wise assessment methods, financial ratios etc.
- Capability to capture business specific information such as Business incorporation details, ownership structure/Shareholding pattern, Promoter and key managerial information, business brief, contact information etc.
- capability to capture ratings which includes both internal and external ratings and there should be provision for seamless integration
- Provision to configure BRE rules specific to schemes, customer constitution, facility type, customer type (ETB/NTB) etc.

8. External Integration

- NESL
- NSDL
- MCA
- CIBIL
- CERSAI
- GST
- BANKS (API Banking)
- City Union Bank for managing the operative account.
- RXIL
- CGTMSE

C) Liability Products & Adoption of Digital Channels

- 1. Implementation roadmap of Digital Banking Channels that suits the requirements of the Corporation and the customers
- 2. Study the liability products and services prevalent in industry and new products which the Corporation can introduce on digital platform.
- 3. Addition of products and services through the digital channels for a better customer experience
- 4. Identify initiatives for new capabilities so as to offer enhanced functionalities through digital channels.
- 5. Consultant to ensure any digital lending journey built can be extended to Corporation's all digital channels. In such a scenario, Consultant to ensure upgradation of UI/UX related to such customer journeys to ensure visual appeal and ease of use.

- 6. Consultant to ensure any digital lending journey built can be extended to any new application over digital channel that the Corporation may build over the next 5 years.
- 7. Prioritize Journeys and make a phase-wise rollout plan, with emphasis on design/ strategy along with benchmarking with best industry practice.
- 8. Design of new channels and applications, based on the needs, usage, expectations of the customers. Devise strategy for adoption of new delivery channels like social media, Messenger Based Delivery Channels, Banking on the go etc.
- 9. Designing customer communication and campaigns to on-board customers on the digital channels of the Corporation create targets and roadmap to achieve those targets.

D) Support Fin-Tech & Vendor On-boarding

- 1. Identification of potential FinTech's partnership for implementation to harness the maximum benefits of the new initiatives like Account Aggregators, Umbrella Organizations etc.
- 2. Devise strategy for tie-up with FinTech companies as tech enablers and for business volume generation, customer acquisition/retention, enhanced customer experiences.
- 3. Review and design of FinTech selection and on boarding policy which should be in line with industry best practices.
- 4. Devising strategies on making tie-up with Fintech companies. This should include preparing a process document, support for identification; on boarding and integrating the FinTech service providers/vendors with the Corporation. Consultant will support and guide the Corporation to design and release RFPs for FinTechs/ vendor on boarding in case of need during the process of Digital Transformation.
- 5. The consultant to provide recommendations for on boarding FinTechs/partnerships.
- 6. Suggest the tie-up with Fintech partners to increase Corporation's share of Business in the MSME sector.
- 7. To recommend formats and templates for RFP formulation and vendor evaluation, Service Level Agreement (SLA) with partners, Project implementation Schedule, Project monitoring etc.
- 8. To define Performance Metrics and define system to measure the Business delivery outcomes from the onboarded FinTech as defined / desired by the Corporation.
- 9. Review the Corporation's existing Fintech policy relating to digitisation by factoring data inputs from the industry wise best practices.
- 10.To study best in class financial technology prevalent in industry and market and devise strategy for adoption of such technologies in the Corporation.

- 11. Strategize imparting new skills to employees to abreast them of latest technologies and trends prevalent in FINTECH industry.
- 12.Review and align the FinTech Policy/ Documents/ Vendor Engagements in line with RBI/ SIDBI/ Finance Department (Govt of Kerala) and other regulatory Agencies.

E) Revamp of IT Organization Structure & Operating Model for achieving Digital Transformation

- 1. Review existing organization structure and operating model of IT department to identify gaps. Design revised organization structure for IT department and provide recommendations of target operating model with detailed structure, specifics of the technological solutions to be utilized, roles and responsibility of the team, manpower requirement etc.
- 2. Design Digital Architecture for the Corporation covering application, infrastructure and security architecture for the Corporation.
- 3. Consultant to review existing KRAs for IT department and recommend changes
- 4. Consultant to review existing IT architecture of the Corporation and recommend changes to enable the digital transformation priorities described in the RFP.
- 5. Consultant to define target IT architecture for the Corporation and provide a blueprint for implementation of the same.
- 6. The Consultant has to define strategies and technological solutions for IT & Digital operating model with detailed structure, specifics of the technological solutions to be utilized, roles and responsibility of the team, manpower requirement etc.
- 7. Consultant to provide inputs to enable the Corporation to develop a future-looking policy for providing API-based services in partnership with neobanks/other partners and to implement Open Banking Architecture.
- 8. Review the Corporation's existing IT policy relating to digitization by factoring data inputs from the industry wise best practices.
- 9. Assist the Corporation in adopting in Artificial Intelligence (AI), Machine Learning (ML), Block-chain& any other upcoming technology enabled solutions in Corporation's environment.
- 10. Comply with Corporation's IT & IS Security policy in key concern areas relevant to the RFP, details of which will be shared with the finally selected Bidder.
- 11. Review the Cloud Policy of the Corporation to enable the migration to cloud for existing and new applications considering all Data Security and privacy aspects.

12.To explore more effective use of Cloud to reduce transaction and technology cost.

F) Planning for Digital Transformation Roadmap

- 1. Support Corporation in initiating the functioning of the Digital organization i.e., ways of working, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), interaction with various teams, etc.
- 2. Design a Digital Transformation roadmap for the Corporation for the next 5 years.
- 3. Analyse existing technology infrastructure available at the Corporation for effective use for the redesigned processes.
- 4. Designing the policy on roadmap for digitizing of manual intensive work, ie, end to end digitalization of internal processes.
- 5. Consultant should support and guide the Corporation to design and release RFPs for on boarding of vendor, system integrator, Fintech, Service Level Agreement (SLA) with partners, Project implementation Schedule as per need during the process of Digital Transformation.
- 6. Devising strategy for other upcoming digital opportunities as permitted by regulatory framework and other regulatory requirements.
- 7. Assistance in a detailed assessment of vendor choices and preferences for each technology solution.
- 8. Designing objectives and overall KRAs for the digital and related organization.
- 9. Developing organization structure of the digital organization with defined roles and responsibilities.
- 10. Assisting the Corporation in complying requirements such as certification on security and privacy of data, risk management, quality management systems etc.

G) Devise strategy for Digital Marketing/ Social Media reach enabling Onboarding of new customers

- 1. Devise digital marketing Strategy for Marketing of all type of products and services (both Digital/ Non-Digital) and on boarding of new customers.
- 2. Study the present marketing strategies/structure of the Corporation and suggest ways and means to revamp the strategies/structure.
- 3. Strategy for redefined process flow and functional design for Digital Marketing.
- 4. Frame strategy for marketing through Social Media channels.

- 5. Focus to increase visibility in the market through all digital channels to reach target segment in each product segment.
- 6. Strategies to enhance customer engagement and to retain customers using digital channel.
- 7. Devising strategy to use data analytics and behaviour analysis of customers and best industry practice for increasing cross sell/ upsell of Digital products and services.
- 8. Strategize Loyalty/Reward program as per best industry practice.
- 9. Detailed design of contact centre to ensure end to end digitization of journey and reduce customer drop off.

H) Training & Change Management for roll out of Customer Journeys and Structure of Digital Organization

- 1. Define Digital organization structure required for driving transformation effort across the Corporation. e.g., new skill-sets
- 2. Assist in framing implementation strategy and guidelines for any new regulation/guideline from regulator/government related to digitalization.
- 3. Support the Corporation in initiating the functioning of the Digital organization i.e., ways of working, KPIs, interaction with various teams, etc.
- 4. Roll out Plan and Implementation Consultant to draw a rollout and implementation plan for Digital Transformation in the Corporation and ensure successful Change Management.
- 5. Pilot rollout and full roll out plan
- 6. Communication with field
- 7. Preparation of training material & SOPs.
- 8. Support adoption of change by the staff.
- 9. Consultant to support and work with Head Office / HR Department for adoption of the changes and scale up lending through Digital Channels.
- 10.Identifying the training needs of the employees in the context of digital transformation and Devise Strategy to revamp and strengthen various elearning/virtual learning/training programs for the employees which is proposed to be part of digital transformation.
- 11. Study the existing training process and analyse the gaps in terms of skillset and capability in the Corporation and devise suitable strategies for digitizing the training process.
- 12. Devise suitable training program with a view to implement digital transformation in the Corporation.

- 13. Support in organizing the digital business meet and identify KPIs for tracking on an on-going basis.
- 14. Working across the organization and operating offices to communicate and handhold in change management.
- 15. Support in setting up internal project management office with latest collaboration tools and project management tools.

I) Project Management Support

- 1. Assist the Corporation in setting up Project Steering Committee and Project Delivery Team across various verticals (business development, branch operations, credit, recovery, loan monitoring, IT, regulatory, audit &compliance, human resources, administration, etc.)
- 2. To drive Transformation Management Office (TMO) for overall coordination& implementation of the project.
- 3. Based on discussions with the management of the Corporation, establish overall project governance structure to include the roles and responsibilities of the Steering Committee and Project Delivery Team.
- 4. Consultant to provide clean Program Management guidelines for any vendor driven activities, development, work streams associated with any of the Modules mentioned above. Consultant should define the guidelines to monitor design and implementation efforts by vendor(s) and to get timely updates on the same.
- 5. Guidelines to discuss the progress on the digital transformation plan with work stream leads and regularly track the implementation status along with sharing the same with concerned stakeholders.
- 6. Manage quality, risks, issues, and changes.
- 7. Guidelines to understand and track the key bottlenecks / challenges that to be faced and discuss with concerned stakeholder to identify solution.
- 8. Devising Project monitoring reports/tool for project management & sharing the same with Corporation's team.
- 9. Knowledge transfer of all the relevant activities related to the project.
- 10. Consultant will be required to make discussions/ meetings/ presentations/ demos/ workshops/ trainings to different groups of business users/ committees/ technical teams as and when required by the Corporation at its various Offices.

3.1. Activities under the scope

Process Management	Customer Acquisition & lead management
Process Management	Customer Acquisition & lead management
	Customer onboarding
	Application management
	Document management
	Credit policy management
	Risk management
	Disbursement management
	Operations & Collections management
	Customer service management
	Workflows governing the processes &
Customs on Association	management
Customer Acquisition	Real time customer acquisition from
	multiple sources through web form, API,
	Mobile App or a widget
	Omnichannel customer journey. Start,
	resume and completion ability cross
	platform.
	Ability to execute straight through
	application journey on partner platform
	through APIs
	Batch processing capability through API,
Customer On beauting	spreadsheets/data entry and flat file
Customer On boarding	Ability to execute eKYC and support for
	CKYC
	Management of application information &
	stages
	Deduplication logic and support
Application Management	Customer blacklist support
Application Management	Managing application data for each stage of the journey
	Availability of all necessary fields required
	for submitting an application along with
	clear display of mandatory and optional
	fields
	Easy to use views and screens with clear
	bifurcations of application sections
	Managing journey drop-off scenarios and
	exception handling
	Data Enrichment through integrations
	Data Quality checks
	Rule Based Assignment of cases
	Manual Assignment of cases
	TAT Management for Applications and
	Cases
	Loan Agreement generation
	Ability to send SMS and Email to
	customers/employees at each milestone
Document Management	Document Upload
Document Flanagement	Rules management
	Compression, storage, indexing, tagging
	etc.
	C.C.

	Documents search
Credit policy management	Financial Data Analysis – Income, Bank
arears perior, management	statements etc. (if any)
	Analysis of other data sources for Credit
	Decision (if any)
	Analysis of alternative scoring (if any)
	Data aggregation for Credit Decision
	Compute Maximum Eligible Loan Amount
	/credit limit
	Compute Loan Tenure
	Compute Rate of Interest
	Financial Analysis & Credit Review of
	Applicants
	Compute Credit Decision outcome
Risk management	Managing customer risk profiling attributes
The trianage mene	Defining business rules to arrive at risk
	parameters based on Income, location,
	employment type, existing relationships,
	transactions, accounts etc.
	Customer risk profiling review on frequent
	basis (Daily, Weekly, Monthly, Quarterly,
	Yearly) based on demographics,
	transactions, account at customer level
Disbursement management	Loan verification module
_	Disbursement through LMS
	Integration with API Banking facility of
	Federal bank, SIB and SBI since KFC does
	not maintain the operative account of
	customer.
	Post disbursement tracking, reporting and
	alerting
Operations & Collections	Views and screens for Operations &
Management	Collections teams
	Audit trail mechanism for all application
	and case level changes
	Disbursement validation mechanism
	Access to customer documents (DMS view
	to be built)
	Development of Collections management
	functionalities
	Availability of information & functionalities
	on web, Mobile & Tablets (Responsive web
Customan consists and	apps)
Customer service management	Automated Rule based assignment
	Manual Assignment
	Workload based assignment
	Geography based assignment
	Product wise assignment
	Loan Amount wise assignment
Branch wise assignment	
	Customer segment wise assignment
I	Rule based Reassignment
	Manual Reassignment

	Case queue management
	Case queue management Waiver management
	TAT & Escalation Management Single Customer View (360 Degree view)
	of all relationships, applications, cases
Master Catura O Maria seriesant	associated with a customer
Master Setup & Management	Maintain Product Master
	Maintain Interest Rate structure
	Maintain logic for Fees, Charges and
	chargebacks
	Manage Checklist for documentation – for
	Credit Decision, KYC, etc.
	Credit Policy Management
	User Maintenance & Hierarchy mapping
	Case Management masters – list of
	Service Requests, Queries and Complaints
	TAT & Escalation matrices
	Flexible account architecture with one to
	one and one to many mapping
	Capability to handle variants of products
	and respective masters
Communication management	Capability to support Multi channel
	customer communication management
	through SMS, Email, IVR, Notifications etc
	Communications management for internal
	workflows through Email, SMS,
	Notifications
	Support for Drip marketing platform
	Support for targeted Emailing capability
Risk, Analytics & MIS	Tracking and reporting by Geography,
	Application stage, Product and transaction
	level.
	Managing customer risk profiling attributes
	Defining business rules to arrive at risk
	parameters based on Income, location,
	employment type, existing relationships,
	transactions, accounts etc
	Customer risk profiling review on frequent
	basis (Daily, Weekly, Monthly, Quarterly,
	Yearly) based on demographics,
	transactions, account at customer level
	Customer life cycle value measurement
	and management
Workflow	Ability to create workflows by business
	teams without any tech/vendor need (Low
	code solution)
	Ability to modify existing workflows
	without any tech need (Low code solution)
	Versioning and ability to deploy multiple
	versions at the same time (Based on
	conditions)
UI & Mobility	create customer mobile app
•	responsive customer web portal
	responsive customer web portai

responsive internal interfaces for process/	
workflow execution and management	
Ability to support multiple languages for	
customer interfaces across channels	
Ability to create smart forms without any	
tech/vendor need (low code solution)	
Ability to integrate forms with workflows	

4. Technical Requirements Scope

- 1. Solution should be able to scale to accommodate future usage loads, such as load balancing, clustering, support for additional CPU cores etc.
- 2. System architecture should supports horizontal and vertical scaling.
- 3. System should be able to withstand high volumes
- 4. System should be of high capacity to carry out transactions during high volume period.
- 5. Ability to scale linearly with respect to new hardware requirements
- 6. Ability to work with different browsers, app servers and databases
- 7. Capability to configure the existing modules, add new modules and have enough flexibility to accommodate changes in schemes and policy Add Data elements or extend data structure /data elements
- 8. Capability to support multiple integration patterns and ease of integration with supporting systems (REST/ SOAP Web services)
- 9. Supports online integrations through various formats/ various internet protocols such as SOP, TCP/IP.
- 10. File based integration through various file formats
- 11. The solution should provide Dev, Test and Prod environment to enable new requirements can be developed, tested and deployed with minimal disruption to business
- 12. The solution proposed must be browser & handset agnostic (All Types of smart phones & Tablets, makes/ models, OS, including iOS, android etc.)
- 13. Mobile application should be optimized for any screen size of the mobile device and tablet.
- 14. The proposed system must be capable of and compatible for Disaster Recovery & Business Continuity plan Implementation as and when required by client.

Performance standards

1. Customer facing screens:

- i. Time to first byte < 1.5 Sec
- ii. Average resource count < 100
- iii. Average web page size < 1.5 MB

iv. Average page load time < 5 Sec

2. Business user screens

- i. Time to first byte < 1 Sec
- ii. Average resource count < 70
- iii. Average web page size < 1.5 MB
- iv. Average page load time < 5 Sec

Interface & Integration requirements

- 1. Provision to customize, implement, train, rollout and maintain the interfaces.
- 2. The integration/interface architecture is based around industry best practices.
- 3. Identify the detailed interface requirements for integrating the proposed packages to the existing systems of the Corporation for all functionalities as mentioned in this RFP.
- 4. The interface architecture should be clearly defined. The integration architecture should include the types of interfaces supported; the standards used and should comply with the architecture principles of the Corporation.
- 5. Incorporate all necessary security & control features within the application, operating system, database, etc. so as to maintain integrity and confidentiality of data at all times.
- 6. Test environment for interface testing.

Project Length

Contract period with the Consultant for the study of the Digital Transformation of the Corporation will be kept for 3 months from the date of signing of Service Level Agreement with the Corporation. Contract period may be extended as per Corporation's sole discretion, at the same team size and terms & conditions, provided services of the bidder are satisfactory.

The Corporation shall have the right at its sole and absolute discretion to extend the assignment with the successful bidder for future requirements within the rates finalized in this process for various items / activities as described in the financial bid, or at the prices negotiated thereafter after expiry of current 3-month assignment period.

5. Terms & Conditions for e-Procurement

The tender is invited in three cover system from the registered and eligible firms e-procurement through the portal of Government Kerala(https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in). Prospective bidders willing participate in this tender shall necessarily register themselves with above mentioned e-procurement portal. The tender timeline is available in the 'Schedule Bids' of Events for Submission of of this **RFP** published https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in.

5.1 Online Bidder Registration Process:

Bidders should have a Class II or above Digital Signature Certificate (DSC) to be procured from any Registration Authorities (RA) under the Certifying Agency of India. Details of RAs will be available on www.cca.gov.in. Once, the DSC is obtained, bidders have to register on https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in website for participating in this tender. Website registration is a one-time process without any registration fees. However, bidders have to procure DSC at their own cost. Bidders may contact e-Procurement support desk of Kerala State IT Mission over telephone at 0471-257 7088, 2577188, 257 7388 or 0484-233 6006, 233 2262 and through email: etendershelp@kerala.gov.in for any assistance in this regard.

5.2 Online Tender Process:

The tender process shall consist of the following stages:

- **i) Downloading of tender document**: Tender document will be available for download on https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in.
- **ii) Publishing of Corrigendum**: Corrigendum (if any) shall be published on https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.inand shall not be available elsewhere.
- **iii)Bid submission**: Bidders have to submit their bids along with supporting documents to support their eligibility, as required in this tender document on https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in. All documents in support of bid(Prequalifications, Technical bid & Financial bid) shall be submitted online. Failure to submit the documents online will attract disqualification. No manual submission of bid is allowed and manual bids shall not be accepted.

A copy of the bid which forms an exact copy of the uploaded bid in the e tender site with Pre-Qualification, Technical and Financial proposal has to be submitted by the bidder through password protected soft copy of the same to email: it@kfc.org. The password will be kept under bidders' custody to be revealed only in case of a fall back where this alternate copy is to be opened.

- **iv) Opening of Technical Bid and Short-listing of Bidders**: The technical bids of those bidders who qualify in the pre-qualification will be opened, evaluated and shortlisted as per the eligibility and technical qualifications. Bids shortlisted through this process will be taken up for opening the financial bid.
- **v) Opening of Financial Bids**: Bids of the technically qualified bidders shall only be considered for opening and evaluation of the financial bid on the date and time mentioned in 'Schedule of Events for Submission of Bids'.

5.3 Documents Comprising Bid:

Pre-Qualification, Technical or/and financial proposal shall contain scanned copies of documents which is detailed in annexures (Ref. Table of Contents).

The Corporation doesn't take any responsibility for any technical snag or failure that has taken place during document upload.

The Bidder shall complete the Price bid as per format given for download along with this tender.

<u>Note:</u> The blank price bid should be downloaded and saved on bidder's computer without changing file-name; otherwise, price bid will not get uploaded. The bidder should fill in details in the same file and upload it back to the website.

Fixed price: Prices quoted by the Bidder shall be fixed during the bidder's Performance of the contract and not subject to variation on any account. A bid submitted with an adjustable/ variable price quotation will be treated as non responsive and shall be rejected. All the rates quoted in the financial bid should be excluding GST.

5.4 Tender Document Fees and Earnest Money Deposit (EMD):

The Bidder shall pay, tender document fee of Rs.5,000/- plus GST @ 18% and EMD of Rs.2,00,000/-(Rupees Two Lakh only). The tender document fee is non-refundable. The EMD is required to protect the Corporation against the risk of Bidder's conduct, which would warrant the forfeiture of security.

In case of unsuccessful bidder, the EMD shall be returned within a period of 30 days after the conclusion of the bid upon submitting the request for refund. No interest will be payable on EMD amount.

The EMD will be returned to the successful bidder upon submission of Performance Security Deposit (Performance Bank Guarantee) and no interest will be payable on EMD amount.

Online Payment modes: The tender document fee and EMD can be paid through the e-Payment facility provided by the e-Procurement system.

Any transaction charges levied while using any of the modes of online payment have to be borne by the bidder. The bid will be evaluated only if payment status against bidder is showing "Success" during bid opening.

5.5 Submission Process:

For submission of bids, all interested bidders have to register online as explained above in this document. After registration, bidders shall submit their Prequalification, Technical bid and financial bid online on https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in along with online payment of tender document fee and EMD.

It is necessary to click on "Freeze bid" link/ icon to complete the process of bid submission, otherwise the bid will not get submitted online and the same shall not be available for viewing/ opening during bid opening process.

General conditions of bid:

- a) Not more than one bid shall be submitted by the bidder.
- b) The bid submitted by the bidder is not transferable.
- c) The tender document for the bid shall be prepared in English.
- d) The tender document, its connected documents/ deliverables submitted by the bidder shall be the property of the Corporation.
- e) The bidder shall raise no claim as to the ownership or possession of the same.
- f) The Corporation is free to cancel the e-tender at any point prior to awarding of contract. In that case, the Corporation shall not be responsible for any damages to the bidder.
- g) The Corporation is at liberty to withdraw the e-tender without any liability to the bidder at any point of time. In such case no reason for withdrawal shall be attributed by the Corporation.

6. Overview of the Selection Process:

The bidder selection process would comprise of the following stages.

6.1 Issue of RFP

The Corporation will issue the RFP document.

6.2 Submission of Queries

Each Recipient should notify the Corporation of any error, fault, omission, or discrepancy found in this RFP document but not later than the last date of submission of queries / clarifications specified in the "Schedule of Events for Submission of Bids". The bidder may request a clarification on any clause of the RFP document within this date. Queries / clarifications will not be entertained over the phone. All queries and clarifications must be sought by email to it@kfc.org (Subject of the email should be "RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024"). The Bidder is requested to collate and submit queries together to seek clarifications / responses from the Corporation. No written reply would be furnished to the bidders for the queries raised. No individual or personal enquiry through any other mail would be attended.

6.3 Online Pre-Bid Meeting

For the purpose of clarifications of doubts of the bidders on issues related to the RFP, the Corporation will hold a pre-bid meeting on the date & time as indicated in the "Schedule of Events for Submission of Bids". Only authorized representatives of the bidders will be allowed to attend the online Pre-bid meeting. Bidders willing to participate in the pre-bid meeting are required to submit a letter from authorized signatory of the organization through the email it@kfc.org along with details including name, organization, designation, mobile number, email id, etc. with subject as "RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024". Details of Video conference will be communicated separately through email. Non-attendance at the Pre-bid Meeting will not be a cause for disqualification of a bidder.

6.4 Issue of Corrigendum to RFP, if required

Any modification of the RFP, which may become necessary as a result of the Prebid Meeting or as a result of the Queries raised, shall be made public by the Corporation, after exercising its discretion, exclusively through the issue of an Addendum/Corrigendum published in the e-tender website https://www.etenders.kerala.gov.in. At any time before the last date of submission of bids, the Corporation may amend the RFP by issuing an addendum and hosting it in the e-tender website. The addendum will be binding on all the bidders. To give bidders reasonable time to take an amendment in their proposals, the Corporation may, if the amendments being substantial extend the deadline for the submission of the proposals.

6.5 Submission of Response

The Bidders will submit response to RFP as per the checklist and the format provided in the RFP. The Recipient/Bidder must apply its own care and conduct its own investigation and analysis regarding any information contained in the RFP

document and the meaning and impact of that information. The Bidder is expected to examine all instructions, forms, terms and specifications in this RFP and study the RFP document carefully. Bid shall be deemed to have been submitted after careful study and examination of this RFP with full understanding of its implications. The Bid should be precise, complete and in the prescribed format as per the requirement of this RFP. Failure to furnish all information required by this RFP or submission of a Bid not responsive to this RFP in each and every respect will be at the Bidder's own risk and may result in rejection of the Bid and for which the Corporation shall not be held responsible. The Tender prepared by the Bidder, as well as all correspondence and documents relating to the Tender exchanged by the Bidder and the Corporation shall be in English language only.

All submissions, including any accompanying documents, will become the property of the Corporation. The bidder shall be deemed to have licensed, and granted all rights to the Corporation to reproduce the whole or any portion of their submission for the purpose of evaluation, to disclose the contents of the submission to other bidders who have registered a submission and to disclose and/or use the contents of the submission as the basis for any resulting RFP process, notwithstanding any copyright or other intellectual property right of the bidder that may subsist in the submission or accompanying documents.

All costs and expenses (whether in terms of time or money) incurred by the Recipient/ Respondent in any way associated with the development, preparation and submission of responses, including but not limited to attendance at meetings, discussions, demonstrations, etc., and providing any additional information required by the Corporation, will be borne entirely and exclusively by the Recipient/ Respondent. A Recipient will, by responding to the Corporation's RFP document, be deemed to have accepted the terms as stated in this RFP document.

No bid can be modified by the bidder subsequent to the closing date or as otherwise specified in this RFP and time of submission of bids. In the event of withdrawal of bid by the bidders, Corporation shall be entitled to forfeit the EMD.

The response to the RFP from the bidders shall include pre-qualification, technical and financial in three separate covers through e-tender process. Initially, the cover containing pre-qualification would be opened and verified for the eligibility to participate in the tender process.

6.6 Validity of Proposals Submitted

All Proposals shall be valid for a period of 180 days from the last date of submission of bids mentioned in "Schedule of Events for Submission of Bids". The Corporation will make its best effort to complete the process within this period. However, if need arise the Corporation may request the Bidder to extend the validity period of their proposals. Bidders, who do not agree, have the right to refuse to extend the validity of their proposals. Under such circumstance, the Corporation shall not consider such proposal for further evaluation.

6.7 Pre-Qualification Eligibility Assessment

The Bidder needs to comply with all the eligibility criteria mentioned below. Non-compliance to any of these criteria would result in outright rejection of the Bidder's proposal. The Bidder is expected to provide proof for each of the below given points for eligibility evaluation. Any credential detail not accompanied by required

relevant proofs or documents will not be considered for evaluation. All credential letters should be appropriately bound, labelled and segregated in the respective areas. There is no restriction on the number of credentials a Bidder can provide. The bidders will be short-listed based on the fully matched eligibility criteria. The decision of the Corporation would be final and binding on all the Bidders. The Corporation may accept or reject an offer without assigning any reason what so ever.

S.No	Pre-qualification Eligibility criteria	Document to be provided
1	The agency must be registered in India under the relevant act, such as the Companies Act of 1956 or the Companies Act of 2013, or a partnership registered under the Indian Partnership Act of 1932, or an LLP registered under the Limited Liability Partnership Act of 2008, with its registered office in India for the last five years. The agency must have been operating in India for the past five fiscal years (2019-20, 2020-21, 2021-22, 2022-23, 2023-24). The	Certificate of Incorporation/Registration Certificates. Copy of PAN and GST Registration Certificate to be provided.
2	bidder must have a valid PAN and GST Registration. The bidder must not be under a declaration of ineligibility, banned, or blacklisted by the Central or State Government/PSU or any other Central/State Government institutions in India (during the last five years) for any reason as of the last date of submission of the bid, nor convicted of an economic offense in India for any reason as of the last date of submission of the bid.	Undertaking by the authorised signatory.
3	The bidder must have an annual turnover of not less than INR 100 Crores per annum in each of three financial years (FY 2020-21, 2021- 22, 2022-23 respectively).	Extracts from the audited balance sheet and profit & loss or submit a certificate from Company Secretary or a Chartered Accountant
4	Bidder should have positive operating Profit in each of the last three financial years (FY 2020-21, FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23).	The bidder must submit a certificate from Company Secretary or a Chartered Accountant, specifying the Net Worth.
5	The bidder should have a minimum of 300 employees on its payroll as of the bid submission date.	Certificate from HR Head / Company Secretary.
6	The bidder should have experience in at least one project of digital transformation for an NBFC in India	Copy of work order /

S.No	Pre-qualification Eligibility criteria	Document to be provided
	within the last three years	agreement.
7	The bidder should not be involved in any litigation which threatens the solvency of the company.	Certificate from Statutory Auditor / Chartered Accountant &
		Self-declaration by the Bidder in letter head as per Annexure 7.

6.8 Demonstration for Bidder Evaluation

Corporation shall call the bidders who cleared the eligibility criteria for formal presentation/ demonstration of the proposal. The proposal will be evaluated by a group of technically qualified people including technical consultants to assess the technical score. Rating of the proposal will be done by objectively verifiable parameters. During demonstration the areas where thrust is to be given by the bidder will be intimated by the Corporation. The functional and non-functional requirement attached as annexures to RFP shall be used as road map for identifying the thrust areas. The proposal will be rated based on the scoring obtained and the bidders will be short-listed.

6.9 QCBS with Reverse Auction

The bids are evaluated using QCBS – Quality and Cost Based Selection method where Quality will be having highest priority and Cost will be the next priority. The technical evaluation and the commercial evaluation shall have the weightage of 70% and 30% respectively and this weightage shall be considered for arriving at the successful Bidder.

6.10 Technical Bid Evaluation

A maximum of 100 marks will be allocated for the technical criteria. The Bidder needs to achieve an overall cut-off score of 70 marks in this evaluation stage to be qualified for financial bid opening. The Corporation will assign marks for the technical evaluation based on the Technical Bid Marking criteria and the presentation made to the Corporation's technical evaluation committee and a team of executives from Corporation. The Technical Score will be calculated based on the Technical Bid Marking Criteria. Respondents scoring a minimum of 70 marks in the technical bid shall be considered for financial bid opening. Corporation's committee will evaluate the criteria and will take a final call whether to accept or reject any credential. Corporation may, at its sole discretion, decide to seek more information from the respondents in order to normalize the bids. However, respondents will be notified separately, if such normalization exercise as part of the technical evaluation is resorted to. The Corporation's decision will be final and binding on the bidder. The technical bid evaluation criteria are given below:

Technical Bid Evaluation Criteria:

Based on the details submitted by the Bidder in the Technical Bid, the Technical Evaluation of the eligible Bidder will be carried out as furnished below:

6				
S. No	Parameter	Criteria	Documents required	Max marks
1	Experience in NBFCs/ banking sector	demonstrate a track record of either successfully completed or presently undertaking consultancy services for NBFCs/banking sector projects with a minimum contract value of 100 lakhs within the past five years.	certificate or a certificate from the CA certifying the value of the	15 Marks
		1 Project: 5 Marks 2 Projects: 10 Marks 3 Projects: 15 Marks		
2	Experience in Digital Transformati on in the Sector.	The bidder must have either successfully executed or currently executing consultancy for digital transformation projects, for any state/central departments, PSUs, NBFC or banks in India within the last five years.	orders or a client certificate or a certificate from the CA certifying the value of the	
		1 Project: 5 Marks 2 Projects: 10 Marks 3 Projects: 20 Marks 4 Projects: 25 Marks		
3	Quality Certification	The bidder should have followed valid quality certification. 5 marks for each certification up to maximum of 20 Marks. ISO 27001, ISO 20000 ISO 9001, CMMI level 5	I .	20 Marks
4	Expert CV profiles	Team Lead: A resource with a BE/BTech, MBA, and PMP certification, having more than 10 projects involving process reengineering, including at least one IT project in the NBFC/Banking sector. – 12 Marks Process Manager: A resource with BE/BTech/Masters and over 12 years of experience in projects involving process improvement and system studies for digital transformation projects. Should also have a	resources	20 Marks

S. No	Parameter	Criteria	Documents required	Max marks
		minimum of 5 years of experience in working with PSUs, NBFC or banks related projects. – 8 Mark		
5	Technical Presentation	Technical Presentation by the bidder on their proposed Approach and methodology, work plan, case studies etc		20 Marks

Technical score is calculated as

TS = (Technical Mark obtained by the bidder / Highest Technical Mark amongst bidders) * 100

The bidders who score 70 marks or above in the technical evaluation will be qualified and invited to participate in the reverse auction process.

6.11 Financial Bid Evaluation

All the rates quoted in the financial bid should be excluding GST.

Financial score is calculated as

FS = (Minimum Commercial Quote amongst bidders / Price quoted by the bidder) *100

6.12 Combined Technical & Financial Score (CTFS)

70:30 weightage for Technical and Financial Score will be used to arrive the Combined Technical and Financial Score (CTFS).

$$CTFS = 0.7 \times TS + 0.3 \times FS$$

Bidder with the highest score so obtained using the above method shall be declared as the successful bidder. In case of tie-up in Techno-Commercial evaluation score, the bidder scoring highest technical score will be declared as the successful bidder.

6.13 Award of Contract

The contract shall be awarded to and the order shall be placed with the selected Bidder. The selected bidder shall submit the acceptance of the order within seven days from the date of receipt of the order. Conditional or qualified acceptance shall be rejected. The Corporation reserves the right to consider at its sole discretion the late acceptance of the order by selected bidder.

6.14 Performance Bank Guarantee

The Corporation shall require the selected bidder to provide Performance Bank Guarantee in favour of Kerala Financial Corporation within 10 days from the date of acceptance of the order or signing of SLA whichever is earlier, for a value equivalent to 5% of the total cost as per the financial bid. The EMD can be converted as BG or the EMD will be returned on submission of the BG. The

Performance guarantee should be valid for a period of 3 months, the total project duration. The Performance guarantee shall contain a claim period of 3 months from the last date of validity. The guarantee should be as per the format enclosed with this RFP.

The Performance Bank Guarantee shall act as a security deposit and either in case the selected bidder is unable to start the project within the stipulated time or start of the project is delayed inordinately beyond the acceptable levels, the Corporation reserves the right to invoke the same. Further, the Corporation reserves the right to invoke the Performance Bank Guarantee in case the Selected bidder is not able to fulfil any or all conditions specified in the document or is unable to complete the project within the stipulated time or Corporation incurs any loss due to bidder's negligence in carrying out the project implementation as per the agreed terms and conditions.

The Corporation shall lodge a claim within the claim period of bank guarantee, if work is not completed as per time scheduled and the guarantee is not extended, or if the Successful bidder fails to complete his obligations under the contract. The assessment of performance will be at the sole discretions of the Corporation.

The selected bidder shall be responsible for extending the validity date and claim period of the Performance guarantee as and when it is due on account of non-completion of the project. In case of selected bidder, failing to submit Performance guarantee within the time period, Corporation is at liberty to cancel the order placed to the bidder without giving any further notice.

6.15 Service Level Agreement and Non-Disclosure Agreement

The selected Bidder shall execute a) Service Level Agreement (SLA), which must include all the services and terms and conditions of the services to be extended as detailed herein, and as may be prescribed or recommended by the Corporation and b) Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA). The selected Bidder shall execute the SLA and NDA within with in thirty (30) days of the award of the Contract or within such extended period, as may be specified by Corporation. The stamp duty / registration charges if any related to execution of the agreements shall be borne by the selected Bidder.

7. Payment Terms

The Bidder must accept the payment terms proposed by the Corporation. The financial bid submitted by the Bidders must be in conformity with the payment terms proposed by the Corporation. Any deviation from the proposed payment terms would not be accepted. The Corporation shall have the right to withhold any payment due to the Bidder, in case of delays or defaults on the part of the Bidder. Such withholding of payment shall not amount to a default on the part of the Corporation. If any of the items / activities as mentioned in the price bid is not taken up by the Corporation during the course of the assignment, the Corporation will not pay the fees quoted by the Bidder in the price bid against such activity/item.

Payment for the project will be made in one instalment upon satisfactory completion. This payment is contingent upon the delivery of the complete set of requirements outlined in the RFP within the agreed three-month contract period.

Any payment arising out of extension of the period will be on mutually agreed terms after expiry of contract period. Payment to the applicant will be done within 30 days of submission of undisputed bills, subject to billings as per the accepted terms of the work order on completion of work and satisfactory performance as certified by the competent authority of the Corporation.

8. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

8.1 Dispute Resolution

All disputes or differences whatsoever arising between the parties out of or in relation to the construction, meaning and operation or effect of this Agreement or breach thereof shall be settled amicably. If, however, the parties are not able to solve them amicably, the same shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996, or modification, amendment, consolidation or re-enactment thereof. The disputes shall be referred to arbitration by a sole Arbitrator acceptable to both parties OR the number of arbitrators shall be three, with each side to the dispute being entitled to appoint one arbitrator, and the two arbitrators appointed by the parties shall appoint a third arbitrator who shall act as the chairman of the proceedings. Arbitration will be carried out at the Corporation's Head Office at Thiruvananthapuram. The arbitral award shall be in writing, stating the reasons for the award, and be final and binding on the parties. The award may include an award of costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements. Any challenge including appeal to the arbitral award shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of courts in Thiruvananthapuram and the language of the arbitration proceedings and that of all documents and communication between the parties shall be in English. The laws applicable to this contract shall be the laws in force in India. The contract shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with Indian law. The Successful Bidder shall continue work under the Contract during the arbitration proceedings unless otherwise directed in writing by the Corporation or unless the matter is such that the work cannot possibly be continued until the decision of the arbiter, as the case may be, is obtained. However, during such a contingency, the Corporation shall be entitled to make alternative arrangements to tackle the situation in any manner it deems fit, at the cost of the Bidder which may also be adjusted by the Corporation from the Performance Bank Guarantee, being treated as default so that the business of the Corporation is not disrupted.

8.2 Governing Law and Jurisdiction of Court

This RFP and subsequent contract shall be governed and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of India and both Parties shall agree that in respect of any dispute arising upon, over or in respect of any of the terms of this Agreement, only the courts in Thiruvananthapuram shall have exclusive jurisdiction to try and adjudicate such disputes to the exclusion of all other courts.

8.3 Legal Compliance

The successful Bidder shall undertake to observe, adhere to, abide by, comply with and notify the Corporation that it complies with all Central, State, Municipal laws and local laws and rules and regulations in force or as are or as made applicable in future, pertaining to or applicable to them, their business, their employees or their obligations towards them and for all purposes of this RFP, including without

limitation, all privacy, database, copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret, export and Anti-Bribery Laws.

Further the successful Bidder shall undertake to observe, adhere to, abide by, comply with all applicable Statutes/Legislations pertaining all the its officers/ staff/ personnel/ representatives/ agents deployed by them for the scope of work (stipulated in the RFP) but not limited to the Minimum Wages Act, Employees Provident Fund Act, Labour Laws, ESIC Facility Standard & Rules/ Regulations/ Guidelines issued by the Government/ Reserve Bank of India or any other Authority, as applicable.

The successful Bidder shall undertake to promptly and timely obtain all such consents, permissions, approvals, licenses, etc., as may be necessary or required for any of the purposes of this project or for the conduct of their own business under any applicable Law, Government Regulation / Guidelines and shall keep the same valid and in force during the term/tenure of the project.

The successful Bidder shall indemnify, keep indemnified, hold harmless, defend and protect the Corporation and its officers/ staff/ personnel/ representatives/ agents from any failure or omission on its part to do so and against all claims or demands of liability and all consequences that may occur or arise for any default or failure on its part to conform or comply with the above and all other statutory obligations arising there from.

If at any time during the term of this agreement, the Corporation is informed or information comes to the Corporation's attention that the Successful bidder is or may be in violation of any law, ordinance, regulation, or code (or if it is so decreed or adjudged by any court, tribunal or other authority), the Corporation shall be entitled to terminate this agreement with immediate effect.

8.4 Entire Agreement & Amendment

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties relating to the matters discussed herein and supersedes any and all prior oral discussions and/or written correspondence or agreements between the parties. This Agreement may be amended or modified only with the mutual written consent of the parties.

8.5 Severability

If one or more of the provisions in this Agreement is deemed void by law, then the remaining provisions shall remain valid and continue in full force and effect.

8.6 Non-Exclusivity

Notwithstanding anything contained in the present Agreement, the arrangement hereby agreed between the parties, shall be on a non-exclusive basis. The Corporation reserves the right to appoint/ engage one or more consultants to provide like services concurrently or otherwise during the currency of this Agreement.

8.7 Assignment

The Bidder agrees that the Bidder shall not be entitled to assign any or all of its rights and or obligations under this RFP and subsequent Agreement to any entity including Bidder's affiliate without the prior written consent of the Corporation.

The Corporation may assign the services provided therein by the Bidder in whole or as part of a corporate reorganization, consolidation, merger, or sale of substantially all of its assets. Corporation shall have the right to assign such portion of the services to any of the consultant, at its sole option, or upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- i) Bidder refuses to perform;
- ii) Bidder is unable to perform;
- iii) Termination of the contract with the Bidder for any reason whatsoever;
- iv) Expiry of the contract.

Such right shall be without prejudice to the rights and remedies, which Corporation may have against the Bidder. The Bidder shall ensure that the said consultant shall agree to provide such services to Corporation at no less favourable terms than those provided by the Bidder and shall include appropriate wordings to this effect in the agreement entered into by the Bidder with such consultant. The assignment envisaged in this scenario is only in certain extreme events such as refusal or inability of the Bidder to perform or termination/ expiry of the contract.

8.8 Force Majeure

Force Majeure is herein defined as any cause, which is beyond the control of the selected bidder or the Corporation as the case may be which they could not foresee or with a reasonable amount of diligence could not have foreseen and which substantially affect the performance, such as:

- Natural phenomenon, including but not limited to floods, droughts, earthquakes,
- epidemics,
- Situations, including but not limited to war, declared or undeclared, priorities, quarantines, embargoes,
- Terrorist attacks, public unrest in work area,

Provided either party shall within 10 days from the occurrence of such a cause notify the other in writing of such causes. The Selected bidder or the Corporation shall not

be liable for delay in performing his / her obligations resulting from any Force Majeure cause as referred to and / or defined above.

8.9 Termination

The Corporation shall have the option to terminate this RFP any time or at any stage without giving notice. The Corporation also reserves the right to cancel the work/purchase order or terminate the SLA by giving 90 days' prior notice in writing inclusive of 30 days cure period and recover damages, costs and expenses etc., incurred by the Corporation under the following circumstances:

a) The selected bidder commits a breach of any of the terms and conditions of this RFP or any subsequent agreement and such breach is not cured within 30 days after the Corporation gives written notice.

- b) The selected bidder becomes bankrupt or insolvent or goes into liquidation, voluntarily or otherwise.
- c) The selected bidder is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, or is subject of an effective resolution of its winding up, or become the subject of a court order for its winding up.
- d) The selected bidder violates the Laws, Rules, Regulations, Bye-Laws, Guidelines, and Notifications etc., applicable to the bidder under performance of the RFP.
- e) An attachment is levied or continues to be levied for a period of seven days upon effects of the bid.
- f) The selected bidder fails to complete the assignment as per the time line prescribed in the Work Order/SLA and the extension, if any allowed.
- g) Unsatisfactory services, non-capable resources, non-initiation of services within 30 days of work order, delay in delivery/ commissioning of services.
- h) Deductions on account of penalty & liquidated damages exceed more than 10% of the total contract price.
- In case the selected bidder fails to deliver the resources as stipulated in the delivery schedule, the Corporation reserves the right to procure the same or similar resources from alternate sources at the risk, cost and responsibility of the selected bidder.
- j) After award of the contract, if the selected bidder does not perform satisfactorily or delays execution of the contract, the Corporation reserves the right to get the balance contract executed by another party of its choice by giving one month's notice for the same. In this event, the selected bidder is bound to make good the additional expenditure, which the Corporation may have to incur in executing the balance contract. This clause is applicable, if the contract is cancelled for any reason, whatsoever.
- k) The Corporation reserves the right to recover any dues payable by the selected Bidder from any amount outstanding to the credit of the selected bidder, including the adjustment of pending bills and/or invoking the Performance Bank Guarantee under this contract.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein above, the Corporation shall have the right to terminate the Agreement without assigning any reason to the bidder without any consequences.

In the event of termination of the Contract due to any cause whatsoever, (whether consequent to the stipulated term of the Contract or otherwise), the Corporation shall be entitled to impose any such obligations and conditions and issue any clarifications as may be necessary to ensure an efficient transition and effective business continuity of the Service(s) which the Bidder shall be obliged to comply with and take all available steps to minimize loss resulting from that termination/ breach, and further provide all such assistance to the next successor bidder or any other entity as may be required and allow them to take over the obligations of the erstwhile Bidder in relation to the execution / continued execution of the scope of the Contract.

Nothing herein shall restrict the right of the Corporation to invoke the Performance Bank Guarantee and other guarantees, securities furnished, enforce the Deed of Indemnity and pursue such other rights and/ or remedies that may be available to the Corporation under law or otherwise.

8.10 Limitation of Liability

The selected Bidder's aggregate liability under the Agreement shall be limited to a maximum of the Agreement value. For the purposes of this clause, Agreement value at any given point of time, means the aggregate value of the purchase orders, paid by the Corporation to the Bidder that gives rise to claim, under this Agreement. In the following circumstances limitation of liability shall not apply and the Bidder shall be liable for amount of cost, damages, compensation, penalty etc. suffered by the Corporation: -

- i) Liability of Bidder for third party claims for IP Infringement;
- ii) Liability of Bidder (including third party claims) in case of bodily injury (including Death);
- iii) Liability of Bidder (including third party claims) in case of damage to real property and tangible property caused by the Bidder's gross negligence;
- iv) Liability of the Bidder in case of gross negligence or willful misconduct attributable to the Bidder while providing services under this Agreement;
- v) Liability of the Bidder in case of fraudulent acts or wilful misrepresentation attributable to the Bidder regarding the services provided under this Agreement;
- vi) Breach of the confidentiality;
- vii) Employment liabilities for Bidder's staff relating to the period of their employment within contractual period while working with Corporation;
- viii) Any liability/penalty/cost/compensation/charges etc. that cannot be capped or is excluded as a matter of applicable laws and imposed by the statutory authority/government bodies/ court/tribunals etc. in relation to this Agreement, owing to the fault of the Bidder.
- ix) Any other breach caused due to the non-performance of the obligations of the Bidder under the Agreement.

8.11 Indemnity

The Bidder shall indemnify the Corporation, and shall always keep indemnified and hold the Corporation, its employees, personnel, officers, directors, harmless from and against any and all losses, liabilities, claims, actions, costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) relating to, resulting directly or indirectly from or in any way arising out of any claim, suit or proceeding brought against the Corporation as a result of:

- a) Corporation's authorized / bona fide use of the Deliverables and /or the Services provided by Bidder under this RFP; and/or
- b) an act or omission of the Bidder and/or its employees, agents, sub-contractors in performance of the obligations under this RFP; and/or
- c) claims made by employees or subcontractors or subcontractors' employees, who are deployed by the Bidder, against the Corporation; and/or
- d) claims arising out of employment, non-payment of remuneration and nonprovision of statutory benefits by the Bidder to its employees, its agents, contractors and sub-contractors
- e) breach of any of the term of this RFP or breach of any representation or false representation or inaccurate statement or assurance or covenant or warranty of the Bidder under this RFP; and/or
- f) any or all Deliverables or Services infringing any patent, trademarks, copyrights or such other Intellectual Property Rights; and/or
- g) breach of confidentiality obligations of the Bidder contained in this RFP; and/or
- h) Negligence or gross misconduct attributable to the Bidder or its employees or sub-contractors.

The Corporation shall notify the bidder in writing as soon as practicable when the Corporation becomes aware of the claim, and cooperates with the Bidder in the defense and settlement of the claims.

The Bidder shall have sole control of the defense and all related settlement/ negotiations, and Corporation will provide the Bidder with the assistance, information and authority reasonably necessary to perform the above.

Indemnity would cover damages, loss or liabilities suffered by the Corporation arising out of claims made by regulatory authorities for reasons attributable to breach of obligations under this RFP and subsequent agreement by the Bidder.

In the event of successful bidder not fulfilling its obligations under this clause within the period specified in the notice issued by Corporation, they have the right to recover the amounts due to it under this provision from any amount payable to the Bidder under this project.

The indemnities under this clause are in addition to and without prejudice to the indemnities given elsewhere in this agreement.

8.12 Confidentiality

The RFP document is confidential and is not to be disclosed, reproduced, transmitted, or made available by the Recipient to any other person. The RFP document is provided to the Recipient on the basis of the undertaking of confidentiality given by the Recipient to the Corporation. The Corporation may update or revise the RFP document or any part of it. The Recipient accepts that any such revised or amended document will be subject to the same confidentiality undertaking. The Recipient will not disclose or discuss the contents of the RFP document with any officer, employee, consultant, director, agent, or other person associated or affiliated in any way with the Corporation or any of its customers or suppliers without the prior written consent of the Corporation.

The bidder/selected bidder must undertake that they shall hold in trust any Information received by them under the Contract/ Service Level Agreement, and the

strictest of confidence shall be maintained in respect of such Information. The bidder

has also to agree:

- To maintain and use the Information only for the purposes of the Contract/ Agreement and only as permitted by Corporation;
- To only make copies as specifically authorized by the prior written consent of Corporation and with the same confidential or proprietary notices as may be printed or displayed on the original;
- To restrict access and disclosure of Information to such of their employees, agents, strictly on a "need to know" basis, to maintain confidentiality of the Information disclosed to them in accordance with this Clause, and
- To treat all Information as Confidential Information.
- The selected bidder acknowledges and agrees that all tangible and intangible information obtained, developed or disclosed including all documents, data, papers, statements, any business/customer information, trade secrets and process of the Corporation relating to its business practices in connection with the performance of services under this Agreement or otherwise, is deemed by

- the Corporation and shall be considered to be confidential and proprietary information ("Confidential Information"), solely of the Corporation and shall not be used/disclosed to anybody in any manner except with the written consent of the Corporation.
- The selected bidder shall ensure that the same is not used or permitted to be used in any manner incompatible or inconsistent with that authorized by the Corporation. The Confidential Information will be safeguarded and the selected bidder will take all necessary action to protect it against misuse, loss, destruction, alterations or deletions thereof.

8.13 Privacy and Security Safeguards

The Bidder shall not publish or disclose in any manner, without the Corporation's prior written consent, the details of any security safeguards designed, developed, or implemented by the Bidder or existing at any location of the Corporation. The Bidder shall develop procedures and implementation plans to ensure that IT resources leaving the control of the assigned user (such as being reassigned, removed for repair, replaced, or upgraded) are cleared of all data and sensitive application software of the Corporation. The Bidder shall also ensure that all subcontractors who are involved in providing such security safeguards or part of it shall not publish or disclose in any manner, without the Corporation's prior written consent, the details of any security safeguards designed, developed, or implemented by the Bidder or existing at any location of the Corporation.

8.14 Successful Bidder's Personnel

The Successful Bidder will agree, acknowledge and covenant that:

- 1) The personnel to be employed by the successful Bidder for carrying out the works have and will continue to use all the skill, care and diligence reasonably to be expected of such suitably qualified and experienced personnel having regard to the value, scale, character and quality of the works;
- 2) The personnel employed shall have the necessary qualifications and skill-sets as agreed to by Corporation.
- 3) The Successful Bidder shall have necessary stand-by arrangements available in case of absence of personnel for leave or any other reason;
- 4) In case of services of an existing employee of the Successful Bidder are withdrawn / terminated by the Successful Bidder, sufficient notice has to be given to Corporation and a replacement of equivalent qualification and experience should be deployed; and
- 5) Corporation shall have the right to require the Successful Bidder to remove any of their personnel for misconduct or any other reason specified by Corporation.

8.15 Background Check

Successful bidder has to conduct proper background check of the employees of the bidder. Onsite staff should submit BGV (background check verification document) in regard to compliance of Education Qualification, Certification, Experience and Police Verification from HR at the time of Onboarding of resources to the Corporation. The resource must submit Company ID Card and a copy of KYC at the time of joining of the project to the Corporation.

8.16 Substitution of Team Members

During the contract, the substitution of key staff identified for the project will not be allowed unless such substitution becomes unavoidable to overcome delay in implementation or is critical to meet the obligation. In such circumstances, the bidder can do so only with the concurrence of the Corporation by providing other staff of the same level of qualifications and expertise. In such case name of any person changes during any stage of the project, the qualifications and experience of the new person should be equivalent to or higher than that provided in the response to the RFP which is acceptable to the Corporation.

If the Corporation is not satisfied with the substitution, the Corporation reserves the right to terminate the contract and recover whatever payments made by the Corporation to the Bidder during the course of this assignment besides claiming an amount, equal to 1% of the contract value per week as liquidated damages. The Corporation also reserves the right to insist the Bidder to replace any team member with another (with the qualifications and expertise as required by the Corporation) during the course of the contract. The Bidder will have to undertake that no such substitution would delay the project timelines.

8.17 Conflict of Interest

The bidder shall disclose to Corporation in writing all actual and potential conflicts of interest that exist, arise or may arise (either for the bidder or the bidder's team) in the course of performing the Service(s) as soon as practical after it becomes aware of that conflict.

8.18 Notices and Other Communication

Notice or other communications given or required to be given under the contract shall be in writing and shall be hand-delivered with acknowledgement thereof, or transmitted by pre-paid registered post/ courier or by Email duly transmitted (with hard copy to follow for Email). Any notice or other communications shall be deemed to have been validly given on the date of delivery if hand-delivered, & on the business date immediately after the successful email transmission if sent by email and within 5 working days (excluding Sundays & public holidays) from the date of posting if sent by registered post or courier.

8.19 Publicity

Any publicity relating to the work to be carried out in the Corporation towards this project is strictly prohibited. No information of any nature related to this project shall be disclosed to any third party unless otherwise necessary and prior permission has been taken from the Corporation.

8.20 Intellectual Property Rights

The work carried out during the project period related to this RFP which includes the Systems, Products and Processes developed etc would be the Exclusive property of the Corporation. The Consultant is expected to provide the knowledge transfer and all the relevant documents. The Consultant is required to maintain the confidentiality and expected not to share/ use this knowledge / information without prior written permission of the Corporation.

8.21 Audit

The Corporation / Regulators reserves the right to conduct an audit of the consulting services provided by the Successful Bidder either directly or through third party partly or fully. The bidder must make all necessary changes as mentioned by the results of these audits. The Corporation will incur the cost of appointment of a third party for audit. The bidder must ensure that the findings of the audit are successfully closed by the bidder within a mutually agreed timeline.

The Successful Bidder shall allow the Corporation, it's authorized Personnel, its auditors (internal and external) and/or other statutory authorities, an unrestricted right to inspect and audit the operations and records directly related to the services. The Cost & Accounting Records will be out of scope for the purpose of audit conducted by the Corporation. If the Successful Bidder is outsourcing any portion of the above activity, it will be the responsibility of the Successful Bidder to ensure that the authorities/officials as mentioned above are allowed access to the places, systems, processes, records (except Cost & Accounting Records) etc. of the activity, for inspection and verification.

The Successful Bidder shall keep complete and accurate records of all the operations in connection with the activities, per prevalent best practices in the industry. All books, records (except Cost & Accounting Records) and information relevant to the services shall be preserved in isolation and be presented to the Corporation or its designees for inspection as and when demanded.

The Successful Bidder should recognize the right of Reserve Bank of India (RBI) to cause an inspection to be made of the Successful Bidder / service provider and its books and accounts by one or more of its officers or employees or other designated person. Except in cases of regulatory and statutory audits, the Corporation shall not exercise right to audit more than twice in a financial year.

8.22 Penalty and Liquidated Damages

Notwithstanding Corporation's right to terminate the order, penalty at 1% (one percent) of the undelivered portion of the order value per week will be charged for every week's delay in the specified delivery schedule subject to a maximum of 10% of the order value. The Corporation reserves its right to recover these amounts by any mode such as adjusting from any payments to be made by Corporation to the Bidder. Such penalties will be based on the timelines specified in the SLA. In case of termination of contract, the Corporation reserves the right to recover an amount equal to 10% of the Contract value as Liquidated Damages for non-performance.

Both Penalty and Liquidated Damages are independent of each other and are applicable separately and concurrently. The penalty is for delay of performance and not for termination, whereas the liquidated damages are applicable only on event of termination on default. Penalty and Liquidated Damages are not applicable for reasons attributable to the Corporation and Force Majeure.

If any act or failure by the Bidder under the agreement results in failure or inoperability of systems and if the Corporation has to take corrective actions, to ensure functionality of its property, the Corporation reserves the right to impose penalty, which may be equal to the cost it incurs or the loss it suffers for such failures.

The Corporation reserves the right to recover these amounts by any mode including adjusting from any payments to be made by the Corporation to the Bidder, or by invoking the Bank Guarantee.

8.23 Corrupt and Fraudulent Practices

As per Central Vigilance Commission (CVC) directives, it is required that Service Provider/ Bidder observe the highest standard of ethics during the execution of such contracts in pursuance of this policy:

"Corrupt Practice" means the offering, giving, receiving or soliciting of anything of values to influence the action of an official in the procurement process or in contract execution.

"Fraudulent Practice" means a misrepresentation of facts in order to influence a procurement process or the execution of contract to the detriment of the Corporation and includes collusive practice among Service Providers/ Bidders (prior to or after bid submission) designed to establish bid prices at artificial non-competitive levels and to deprive the Corporation of the benefits of free and open competition.

The Corporation reserves the right to reject a proposal for award if it determines that the Bidder recommended for award has engaged in corrupt or fraudulent practices in competing for the contract in question. The Corporation reserves the right to declare a Bidder/Service Provider ineligible, either indefinitely or for a stated period of time, to be awarded a contract if at any time it determines that the Bidder has engaged in corrupt or fraudulent practices in competing for or in executing the contract.

8.24 Expenses and Taxes included in the Quoted Price

The price quoted should include all related expenses. There are no additional expenses reimbursable by the Corporation. The bidder is expected to quote unit price in Indian Rupees as part of the financial bid. The price would be inclusive of all applicable taxes under the Indian law like customs duty, freight, forwarding, insurance, delivery, etc. but exclusive of only applicable GST, which shall be paid / reimbursed on actual basis on production of bills with GSTIN. Any increase in GST will be paid in actuals by the Corporation or any new tax introduced by the Government will also be paid by the Corporation. The entire benefits / advantages, arising out of fall in prices, taxes, duties or any other reason, must be passed on to Corporation. The price quoted by the bidder should not change due to exchange rate fluctuations, inflation, market conditions, and increase in custom duty, excise tax etc. The Corporation will not pay any out-of-pocket expense.

8.25 Data Protection

Bidder will process Corporation's personal data on Corporation's behalf as part of the Services, and will comply with the Information Technology Act, 2000 and all applicable privacy and data protection provisions and applicable laws. Further it must be ensured that due care be taken while collecting and dealing with sensitive personal data or information. Web portal will be secured to avoid hacking, infusion of virus, unauthorised copying, tampering, etc. and all sort of security required as per law & practices to be adopted and implemented by bidder.

8.26 Violation of Terms

The Corporation clarifies that the Corporation shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order, right for recovery, suit for specific performance or such other equitable relief as a court of competent jurisdiction may deem necessary or appropriate to restrain the Bidder from committing any violation or enforce the performance of the covenants, obligations and representations contained in this tender document. These injunctive remedies are cumulative and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Corporation may have at law or in equity, including without limitation a right for recovery of any amounts and related costs and a right for damages.

8.27 Authorized Signatory

The selected Bidder shall indicate the authorized signatories who can discuss and correspond with the Corporation, with regard to the obligations under the contract. The selected Bidder shall submit at the time of signing the contract, a certified copy of the resolution of their Board, authenticated by Company Secretary/Director, authorizing an official or officials of the company or a Power of Attorney copy to discuss, sign agreements/contracts with the Corporation. The Bidder shall furnish proof of signature identification for above purposes as required by the Corporation.

8.28 Principal to Principal Liability

The employees engaged by the Bidder shall be deemed to be the employees of Bidder only, and the Corporation shall not be connected with the employment or the terms and conditions thereof in any way. The Bidder alone would comply with the statutory obligations and Labour Regulations/ Rules in this regard. None of the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute a partnership or joint venture or employee- employee relationship between the parties hereto, and neither party shall have authority to bind the other except as specifically provided for hereunder. Neither party hereto is the agent of the other nor is there any master–servant relationship between the parties. The relationship is on principal-to-principal basis.

The Bidder shall be responsible for payments of all statutory dues with respect to each of his personnel/employees engaged by him to render service under this Agreement with respect to each applicable/extant labour law, including but not limited to, the Minimum Wages Act, 1948, The Payment of Wages Act, 1936, The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965, Code on Wages, 2019 as and when is notified by Government, The Employees' State Insurance Act, 1948, The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961, The Employees' Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952, etc. No dues/contributions under any labour legislations as applicable, remain payable with respect to his personnel/employees. The Bidder shall have no claims whatsoever against the Corporation with respect to payment of statutory dues/contributions to its personnel/employees under applicable labour legislations/rules/regulations.

8.29 Taxes and Duties

It will be the responsibility of the Bidder to provide clarifications/particulars/documents etc. to the appropriate tax authorities for assessment of tax, compliance with labour and other laws, etc. at its cost.

Tax deduction at Source - Wherever the laws and regulations require deduction of such taxes at the source of payment, the Corporation shall be within its right to effect such deductions from the payment due to Bidder. The remittance of amounts so deducted and issuance of certificate for such deductions shall be made by the Corporation as per the laws and regulations in force. Nothing in the Contract shall relieve the Bidder from his responsibility to pay any tax that may be levied on income and profits made by Bidder in respect of this contract.

8.30 Standards

All standards to be followed will adhere to Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS) specifications or other acceptable standards.

8.31 Escalation Matrix

The Bidder shall provide the contacts and an escalation matrix to log the complaints/ problems faced in the facility/ solutions provided to the Corporation. Escalation matrix should be updated and sent to Corporation as and when there is a change.

Checklist Submission

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

SL No	Name of Document	Bidder's Remark (Yes/No)
1	Checklist Submission – Annexure 1	•
2	Tender Offer Covering Letter – Annexure 2	
3	Tender Document Fee Details	
4	Earnest Money Deposit Details	
5	Profile of the Bidder – Annexure 3	
6	Pre-Qualification Compliance Sheet – Annexure 4	
7	Supporting Documents as per Pre-Qualification Compliance Sheet including Annexure 5, 6 & 7	
8	Technical Qualification Compliance Sheet - Annexure 8	
9	Supporting Documents as per Technical Qualification Compliance	
	Sheet including Annexure 9	
10	Financial Bid – Annexure 10	
11	Performance Bank Guarantee – Annexure 11	
12	Compliance Certificate	
13	Bidder's Particulars	
14	Tender Offer Cover Letter	
15	Eligibility Criteria	
16	Technical Evaluation Criteria	
17	Performance Bank Guarantee Format	
18	Non-Disclosure Agreement Format	
19	Pre Bid Query Format	
20	Bid Undertaking Letter	
21	Bill of Material (Total cost of Ownership – TCO)	
22	Bank Guarantee in lieu of EMD	
23	Integrity Pact	
24	Experience Detail (Technical Evaluation)	
25	Experience Detail (Eligibility Criteria)	
26	Proposed Team Profile	
27	Turnover, P&L and Net Worth	
28	Undertaking for Non-Blacklisting / Non-Debarment of the Bidder	

Signature of the Bidder

(To be signed by the authorized person with seal and date)

[The bidder has to ensure that the above documents have been submitted as a part of the RFP submission process. Failure to provide any of the above documents could lead to the disqualification of the bidder from the bid.]

Annexure – 2

Tender Offer Covering Letter

(In letter head)

No. Date:

To

The Chairman & Managing Director,

Kerala Financial Corporation Vellayambalam, Thiruvananthapuram - 695033.

SUB: RFP for Appointment of Consultant for Digital Transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation – reg.

REF: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

Dear Sir,

Having examined the RFP documents including all annexures and forms along with terms & conditions, scope of work etc, and having understood the provisions, requirements and all other factors governing the RFP, we hereby submit our offer for the appointment as consultant for the Digital Transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation. We hereby confirm our acceptance to execute the order within the time period specified in the RFP document, at the rates quoted by us in the accompanying Financial Bid.

We understand that the RFP provides generic specifications about all the items and it has not been prepared by keeping in view any specific bidder. We accept the commitments made through RFP document cited as reference and if in any case we fail to complete the delivery as per the order, we agree that, KFC shall have full authority to forfeit the Earnest Money Deposit/ Performance Bank Guarantee and cancel our order with no obligation on their part. We confirm that the Tender Document Fee & Earnest Money are deposited as per the norms stipulated in the RFP. If our tender offer is accepted, we will furnish an unconditional and irrevocable Performance Bank Guarantee (PBG) for 5% of the total project cost as per the norms mentioned in the RFP.

We further confirm that -

- 1. We have successfully executed orders of similar nature and we have sufficient experience and financial strength in handling orders of this value.
- 2. We have sufficient qualified manpower and necessary materials and after sales support to execute the order efficiently in the specified time schedule.
- 3. The quoted rates shall be valid for 180 days from the last date of submission of bids and our offer shall remain binding on us and may be accepted by the Corporation any time before expiry of the offer.
- 4. We undertake that in competing for and if the award is made to us, in executing the subject Contract, we will strictly observe the laws against fraud and corruption in force in India namely "Prevention of Corruption Act 1988".
- 5. We further undertake that we have never been barred/ black-listed by any Govt Authority/ Regulatory/ Statutory Authority/ PSUs in India.
- 6. We further confirm that all sections of the RFP document have been read, understood and signed and there is no deviation/ discrepancy.

Until a formal contract is prepared and executed, this tender offer, together with the Corporation's written acceptance thereof and the Corporation's notification of award,

shall constitute a binding contract between us. We understand that the Corporation is not bound to accept the lowest or any offer the Corporation may receive. We also understand that the Corporation have the exclusive right to reject this offer in case the Corporation is of the opinion that the required information is not provided or is provided in a different format.

Signature of the Bidder (To be signed by the authorized person with seal)

Profile of the Bidder

(Proforma to be used in Pre-qualification bid submission)

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

SL.No.	Particulars	Details
Α	Bidder Profile	
1	Name of the Firm/ Company	
2	Constitution	
3	Date & Year of establishment/ incorporation	
4	Address (order to be placed on which office) Registered office Corporate office	
5	Names and Designations of the persons authorized to make commitments to the Corporation	
6	Contact Details of Authorized Person Landline No Mobile No Email ID Website	
7	Sales turnover from IT related business for the last three years 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23	
8	PAN Number	
9	GST No.	
10	Bank Details Name of the Bank Branch Address Type of Account Account Number RTGS/ NEFT / IFS Code	
11	Domestic Customer Base (Number of Banks, NBFCs where Digital Transformation is implemented in India)	
12	Name of the major clients (Banks / NBFCs) where Digital Transformation is implemented in India	

RFP ·	for	Digital	Transformation	of KFC
-------	-----	---------	----------------	--------

Date:	
Place: Bidder	Seal & Signature of Authorized Signatory of the

Pre-Qualification Compliance Sheet

(Proforma to be used in Pre-qualification bid submission)

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

[The Pre-qualification proposal should comprise of the following requirements. The documents mentioned in this compliance sheet along with this Proforma, needs to be a part of the Pre-qualification proposal]

SI. No	Eligibility Criteria	Supporting Documents to be Submitted	Bidder's Remark (Yes/No)
1.	Checklist Submission	Format as per Annexure 1	
2.	Tender Offer Covering Letter	Format as per Annexure 2	
3.	Tender Document Fee	Online Payment Details	
4.	Earnest Money Deposit	Online Payment Details	
5.	Profile of the Bidder	Format as per Annexure 3	
6.	Pre-Qualification Compliance Sheet	Format as per Annexure 4	
4.	The Bidder should be a reputed PSU / PSE / Partnership firm / LLP / Private Limited/ Limited Company having its registered office in India. The line of business sought in RFP shall be specified in the MOA / AOA / Partnership Deed.	Valid Certificate of Incorporation (along with MOA & AOA) / Partnership Deed as on date of bid submission.	
5.	Bidder should have minimum turnover of Rs. 100 Crore during each of the last three financial years from consulting services (FY 2020-21, FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23)	Certificate from the Chartered Accountant of the Bidder in the format given as Annexure 5.	
6.	Bidder should have positive Net Profit & Net worth in each of the last three financial years (FY 2020-21, FY 2021-22 and FY 2022-23)	Copy of the audited balance sheet and P&L of the bidder showing the same.	
7.	Bidder should have consulting experience of at least two assignments during last 5 years in the nature of digital transformation (completed) of Public Sector Banks/ Private Sector Banks/ NBFCs in India at the time of project execution. Digital Transformation includes any two of the following:- Omni-channel Customer Experience Digital Lending Digital Liabilities	work order/ letter of award for each assignment along with successful completion certificate	

	 Digital financial superstore / market place Advanced Analytics and Data platform 		
8.	Bidder should have sufficient strength of Senior & Junior resources in their payroll having proven experience in the following areas: • Digital Business • Data & Analytics • Technology Expert • Digital Customer Experience • Information Security / Audit	An undertaking (in letter head) signed by the Company Secretary of the bidder.	
9.	The bidder should not have been blacklisted by any of Government Authority or Public Sector Undertaking (PSUs).		
10.	The bidder should not be involved in any litigation which threatens solvency of the company.	Self-declaration by the Bidder in letter head as per Annexure 7.	
11.	Bidder should not have any legal proceedings/ inquiries / investigations, commenced/ pending against them by any statutory or regulatory or investigative agencies for which performance under the contract will get adversely affected / may get affected.		

Turnover, P&L and Net worth Certificate

(Proforma to be used in Pre-qualification bid submission)

The turnover, P8 below. This certif	L and net worth of icate is issued to M	letails of M/s /s	for participa	are furnished
for appointment a	as consultant for the	digital transforma	ation of Kerala Fir	nancial Corporation.
lakh)				(Rs. in
FY	Turnover from Consulting Services	Total Turnover	Net Profit or Loss	Net worth
2020-21 (Audited)				
2021-22 (Audited)				
2022-23l (Audited)				
Date: Place: Bidder		Seal & Signatu	re of the Chartere	ed Accountant of the
[Bidder has to s		of Audited Bala	nce Sheet and I	P&L for the above-

Annexure - 6

Experience Details

(Proforma to be used in Pre-qualification bid submission)

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

SI.	Name of	Type of	Business	Nature	Project Duration Details		
No.	Banks / NBFCs to whom services rendered	Organization (Scheduled Commercial Bank / NBFC)	Mix of the Served Organization (In Rs.)	of Work	No. of months	Start Date	Date of Completion / Expected

$D \rightarrow + \infty$	
Date	
	-

Place:

Signatory

Seal & Signature of Authorized

[Submit photocopies of engagement letter/ work order/ letter of award for each assignment along with successful completion certificate from the clients as per Eligibility and Technical Evaluation Criteria]

Annexure - 7

Self-Declaration

(Proforma to be used in Pre-qualification bid submission)

Tο

The Chairman & Managing Director,

Kerala Financial Corporation

Vellayambalam, Thiruvananthapuram - 695033.

SUB: RFP for Appointment of Consultant for Digital Transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation – reg.

REF: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

Dear Sir(s),	
We, M/s	, the undersigned, hereby confirm that we have
read and understood the eligibility cr	iteria and fulfil the same.

- a) We further confirm that all the information as per requirement of the Corporation have been included in our bid.
- b) Further, we hereby undertake and agree to abide by all terms and conditions and guidelines stipulated by the Corporation. We understand that any deviation may result in disqualification of our bid.
- c) We have not been blacklisted by any Government Authority/ Bank/RBI/IBA/ PSUs or any other Government agency/Regulatory Body/ICAI. No legal action is pending against us for any cause in any legal jurisdiction.
- d) We are not involved in any litigation which threatens the solvency of the company.
- e) We do not have any legal proceedings/ inquiries / investigations, commenced/ pending against us by any statutory or regulatory or investigative agencies.
- f) We undertake that adequate number of resources, if required by the Corporation, will be deployed for the project to complete the assignment within stipulated time.
- g) We also confirm that we are not a NPA holder in any Bank/Financial Institution in India.

Place:	
Date:	Seal & Signature of the Authorized Signatory of the
Bidder	

Technical Qualification Compliance Sheet

(Proforma to be used in technical bid submission)

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

[The Technical bid proposal should comprise of the following requirements. The documents mentioned in this compliance sheet along with this Proforma, needs to be a part of the technical bid proposal]

SI. No.	Eligibility Criteria	Supporting Documents to be Submitted	Bidder' s Remark (Yes/No)
2.	Sector Banks / NBFCs in India as per the context of this RFP Experience and Credentials in conducting study & implementation of Digital Transformation (Omni-channel Customer Experience, Digital Lending, Digital Liabilities, Digital Fintech partnerships, Online market place, Advanced Analytics and Data platform) done in last 5 years from the date of RFP with Public Sector Banks / Private Sector Banks / NBFCs in India.	work order/ letter of award for each assignment along with successful completion certificate from the client. & Experience Details Format as per Annexure 6. (These documents submitted	,
	and objectives.		

	 Tools and techniques, standard operating procedures and best practices to be adopted. Risks and mitigations envisaged Ensuring proper handover of capabilities to Corporation's in-house teams for sustainability. Training & handholding of key Bank teams to ensure appropriate capability building 		
3.	Proposed Team Profile & Deployment - Team deployment plan - Capability and specific expertise relevant to the Project Experience and profile of Subject Matter Experts and Key Personnel assigned.	Profile of the employees along with name, qualification, experience should be furnished on the company's letter head in the format given as Annexure-9.	

Annexure - 9

Profile of Proposed Team Leader & Team Members

(Proforma to be used in technical qualification bid submission)

Ref: RFP No. KFC/IT/E-Tender/01/2023-24 dated 13.03.2024

Profile of Proposed Team Leader & Team Members				
Name				
Present Designation				
Qualifications along with name of University,				
Institutions				
Nationality				
No. of Years in the firm & Total Work				
Experience				
Language Proficiency				
Areas of Expertise relevant to the RFP				
Role in the proposed assignment				
Tasks assigned				

We hereby acknowledge that the information provided by us is true and to the best of our knowledge.

Date:

Place: Seal & Signature of Authorized Signatory

[The profile of each of such professionals should be furnished.]

Financial Bid

(To be submitted online only)

Fixed Commercial Bid including Prof	fessional Fee and Out of Pocket Expenses
Fee Quote (In Numbers)	Rs/-
Fee Quote (In Words)	Rupees only

Total fee quoted above is inclusive of all expenses, i.e., Professional Fee as well as all Out-of-Pocket Expenses (such as Travel, Lodging and Boarding, Conveyance, Printing, Administrative Expenses etc.). The Corporation shall not entertain any other claims over and above the cost specified in the Financial Bid.

However, GST and other applicable taxes shall be paid by the Corporation on actual basis at the rate applicable, the rate of applicable GST and other applicable taxes will be informed and charged separately in the invoice generated for supply of the services.

The total price quoted above shall be considered as full project cost for execution of end-toend deliverables of scope defined in the terms of reference. Payment of consultancy services shall be undertaken as per payment terms mentioned in the RFP / contract. Total fee quote mentioned above shall be considered for scoring in the Techno Financial bid evaluation. The Corporation will be at liberty to deduct at source any amount that may be required under the prevailing laws, rules and regulations.

Date:	
Place:	Seal & Signature of Authorized Signatory

Performance Bank Guarantee

(To be stamped in accordance with Stamp Act)

Ref: Bank Guarantee No date
The Chairman & Managing Director Kerala Financial Corporation Vellayambalam Thiruvananthapuram - 695033.
Dear Sir,
In response to e-tender No dated, M/s (name of the firm offering Performance Guarantee) having its registered office at (herein after called Bidder) wish to participate in the said bid for appointment as consultant for the digital transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation (KFC) having its head office at Vellayambalam, Thiruvananthapuram, Pin 695033.
An irrevocable Financial Bank Guarantee (issued by a Nationalized Bank or a Scheduled Commercial Bank) as Performance Guarantee amounting to Rs (Rupees only) valid up to is required to be submitted by the bidder, as a condition for participation in the said bid, which amount is liable to be forfeited on happening of any contingencies mentioned in the bid document.
M/s (Bidder) having its registered office at has undertaken in pursuance of their offer to Kerala Financial Corporation (hereinafter called as the Beneficiary) dated has expressed its intention to participate in the said bid and in terms thereof has approached us and requested us (Name of Bank) (Address of Bank) to issue an irrevocable Financial Bank Guarantee amounting to Rs (Rupees only) valid up to (mention date of expiry which should be minimum of bid validity (6 months).
We, the
This guarantee shall be irrevocable and shall remain valid up to (mention date of expiry which should be minimum of bid validity (6 months). If any further tender Ref: dated extension of this guarantee is required, the same shall be extended to such required period on receiving instructions in writing, from Kerala Financial Corporation, on whose behalf guarantee is issued.
"Notwithstanding anything contained herein above;
a) Our liability under this Bank guarantee shall not exceed Rs (Rupees only)

b) This Bank guarantee shall be valid and remain in	n force up to and including the date
c) We are liable to pay the guaranteed amount or any ponly if you serve upon us a written claim or demand expiry of guarantee including claim period).	
In witness whereof the Bank, through its authorized off the day of 2024 at	ficers has set its hand stamped on this
Name & Signature of Authorized Officer Officer	Name & Signature of Authorized
Bank Office Seal:	

Integrity Pact

Kerala Financial Corporation, a Corporation established under the State Financial Corporations Act 1951 (LXIII of 1951) and having its Head Office at Thiruvananthapuram, hereinafter referred to as "The Principal", which expression shall mean and include unless the context otherwise requires, its successors in office and assigns of the First Part.

And					
M/s hereinafter referre the context otherw	d to as "The Bidd	ler/Contractor	, ,	hall mean and	nless

Preamble

The Principal intends to award, under laid down organizational procedures, contract/s for selection of consultant for digital transformation of Kerala Financial Corporation. The Principal values full compliance with all relevant laws of the land, rules, regulations, economic use of resources and of fairness/transparency in its relations with its Bidder(s) and/or Contractor(s).

In order to achieve these goals, the Principal will appoint Independent External Monitors (IEMs) who will monitor the tender process and the execution of the contract for compliance with the principles mentioned above.

Section 1- Commitments of the Principal

- (1) The Principal commits itself to take all measures necessary to prevent corruption and to observe the following principles:-
- a. No employee of the Principal, personally or through family members, will in connection with the tender for, or the execution of a contract, demand, take a promise for or accept, for self or third person, any material or immaterial benefit which the person is not legally entitled to.
- b. The Principal will, during the tender process treat all Bidder(s) with equity and reason. The Principal will in particular, before and during the tender process, provide to all Bidder(s) the same information and will not provide to any Bidder(s) confidential/ additional information through which the Bidder(s) could obtain an advantage in relation to the tender process or the contract execution.
- c. The Principal will exclude from the process all known prejudiced persons.
- (2) If the Principal obtains information on the conduct of any of its employees which is a criminal offence under the IPC/PC Act, or if there be a substantive suspicion in this regard, the Principal will inform the Vigilance Officer and in addition can initiate disciplinary actions.

Section 2- Commitments of the Bidder(s) / Contractor(s)

(1) The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) commit themselves to take all measures necessary to prevent corruption during any stage of bid process/contract. The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) commit themselves to observe the following principles during participation in the tender process and during the contract execution.

- a. The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) will not, directly or through any other person or firm, offer promise or give to any of the Principal's employees involved in the tender process or the execution of the contract or to any third person any material or the other benefit which he/she is not legally entitled to, in order to obtain in exchange any advantage of any kind whatsoever during the tender process or during the execution of the contract.
- b. The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) will not enter with other Bidders into any undisclosed agreement or understanding, whether formal or informal. This applies in particular to prices, specifications, certifications, subsidiary contracts, submission or non-submission of bids or any other actions to restrict competitiveness or to introduce cartelization in the bidding process.
- c. The Bidder(s)/ Contractor(s) will not commit any offence under the relevant IPC/PC Act; further the Bidder(s)/ Contractor(s) will not use improperly, for purposes of competition or personal gain, or pass on to others, any information or document provided by the Principal as part of the business relationship, regarding plans, technical proposal and business details, including information contained or transmitted electronically.
- d. The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) of foreign origin shall disclose the name and address of the Agents/representatives in India, if any, similarly the Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) of Indian Nationality shall furnish the name and address of the foreign principals, if any. Further details as mentioned in the "Guidelines on Indian Agents of Foreign Suppliers" shall be disclosed by the Bidder(s)/Contractor(s). Further, as mentioned in the Guidelines all the payments made to the Indian agent/representative have to be in Indian Rupees only.
- e. The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) will, when presenting their bid, disclose any and all payments made, is committed to or intends to make to agents, brokers or any other intermediaries in connection with the award of the contract.
- f. Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) who have signed the Integrity Pact shall not approach the Courts while representing the matter to IEMs and shall wait for their decision in the matter.
- (2) The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) will not instigate third persons to commit offences outlined above or be an accessory to such offences.

Section-3 Disqualification from tender process and exclusion from future contracts.

If the Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) before award or during execution has committed a transgression through a violation of Section 2, above or in any other form such as to put their reliability or credibility in question, the Principal is entitled to disqualify the Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) from the tender process or take action as per the existing provisions of GFR, 2017, PC Act, 1988 and other Financial Rules/Guidelines etc.

Section 4- Compensation for Damages

- (1) If the Principal has disqualified the Bidder(s) from the tender process prior to the award according to Section 3, the Principal is entitled to demand and recover the damages equivalent to earnest Money Deposit/Bid Security.
- (2) If the Principal has terminated the contract according to Section 3, or the Principal is entitled to terminate the contract according to Section 3, the Principal shall be entitled to

demand and recover from the Contractor liquidated damages of the contract value or the amount equivalent to Performance Bank Guarantee.

Section 5- Previous transgression

- (1) The Bidder declares that no previous transgression occurred in the last three years immediate before signing of this integrity pact with any other Company in any country conforming to the anti-corruption approach or with any Public Sector Enterprises or Central/State government department in India that could justify his exclusion from the tender process.
- (2) If the Bidder makes incorrect statement on this subject, he can be disqualified from the tender process or action can be taken as per the procedure mentioned in" Guidelines on Banning of business dealing".

Section 6- Equal treatment of all Bidders/Contractors/Subcontractors

- (1) In case of Sub-contracting, the Principal Contractor shall take the responsibility of the adoption of integrity Pact by the Sub-contractor. It is to be ensured that all sub-contractors also sign the IP.
- (2) The Principal will enter into agreements with identical conditions as this one with all Bidders and Contractors.
- (3) The Principal will disqualify from the tender process all the Bidders who do not sign this Pact or violate its provisions.

Section 7- Criminal charges against violating Bidder(s)/ Contractor(s)/ Subcontractor(s)

If the Principal obtains knowledge of conduct of a Bidder, Contractor or Sub contractor, or of an employee or a representative or an associate of a Bidder, Contractor or Subcontractor which constitutes corruption, or if the Principal has substantive suspicion in this regard, the Principal will inform the same to the Vigilance Officer.

Section 8- Independent External Monitor

- (1) The Principal appoints competent and credible Independent External Monitor for this Pact in consultation with the Central Vigilance Commission. The task of the Monitor is to review independently and objectively, whether and to what extent the parties comply with the obligations under the agreement.
- (2) The Monitor is not subject to instructions by the representatives of the parties and performs his/her functions neutrally and independently. It will be obligatory for him/her to treat the information and documents of the Bidders/Contractors as confidential. He/she reports to the Chairman & Managing Director, Kerala Financial Corporation.
- (3) The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) accepts that the Monitor has the right to access without restriction to all project documentation of the Principal including that provided by the Bidder(s)/ Contractor(s). The Bidder(s)/Contractor(s) will also grant the Monitor, upon his/her request and demonstration of a valid interest, unrestricted and unconditional access to their

project documentation. The same is applicable to Sub-contractor. The Monitor is under contractual obligation to treat the information and documents of the Bidder(s)/ Contractor(s)/ Subcontractor(s) with confidentiality.

- (4) The Principal will provide to the Monitor sufficient information about all meetings among the parties related to the Project provided such meetings could have an impact on the contractual relations between the Principal and Contractor. The parties offer to the Monitor the option to participate in such meetings.
- (5) As soon as the Monitor notices, or believes to notice, a violation of this agreement, he/she will so inform the Management of the Principal and request the Management to discontinue or take corrective action, or to take other relevant action. The monitor can in this regard submit non-binding recommendations. Beyond this, the Monitor has no right to demand from the parties that they act in a specific manner, refrain from action or tolerate action.
- (6) The Monitor will submit a written report to the Chairman & Managing Director, Kerala Financial Corporation, within 8 to 10 weeks from the date of reference or intimation to him by the Principal and, should the occasion arise, submit proposals for correcting problematic situations.
- (7) The word 'Monitor' would include both singular and plural.

Section 09- Pact Duration

This Pact begins when both parties have legally signed it. It expires for the Contractor 12 months after the last payment under the contract, and for all other Bidders 6 months after the contract has been awarded. Any violation of the same would entail disqualification of the bidders and exclusion future business dealings. If any claim is made/lodged during this time, the same shall be binding and continue to be valid despite the lapse of this pact as specified above, unless it is discharged/ determined by Chairman & Managing Director, Kerala Financial Corporation.

Section 10- Other provisions

- (1) This agreement is subject to Indian Law. Place of performance and jurisdiction is the Registered Office of the Principal, i.e., Thiruvananthapuram.
- (2) The actions stipulated in this Integrity Pact are without prejudice to any other legal action that may follow in accordance with the provisions of to the extant law in force relating to any civil or criminal proceedings.
- (3) Changes and supplements as well as termination notices need to be made in writing. Side agreements have not been made.
- (4) If the Contractor is a partnership or a consortium, this agreement must be signed by all partners or consortium members.
- (5) Should one or several provisions of this agreement turn out to be valid, the remainder of this agreement remains valid. In this case, the parties will strive to come to an agreement to their original intentions.
- (6) Issues like warranty/Guarantee etc. shall be outside the purview of IEMs.

(7) In the event of any contradiction between the Integrity Pact and its Annexure, the Clause in the Integrity Pact will prevail.

(For & On behalf of the Principal) Bidder/Contractor)	(For & On behalf of		
Office Seal) Place Date	(Office Seal) Place: Date:		
Witness 1:	Witness 1:		
(Name & Address)	(Name & Address)		
Witness 2:	Witness 2:		
(Name & Address)	(Name & Address)		

Non-Disclosure Agreement Format

This Agreement 2024.	made at		on this	day	of		
BETWEEN							
M/s. Companies Act, 1 (hereinafter referre	ed to as " Ve	ndor " which ex	l office xpression	at <u> </u>	pugnant to the	e contex	
meaning thereof be	deemed to in	nclude its succe	ssors and	d assigns) d	of the ONE PAI	₹T;	

AND

Kerala Financial Corporation, a Corporation established under the State Financial Corporations Act 1951 (LXIII of 1951) and having its Head Office at Thiruvananthapuram (hereinafter referred to as "Corporation" which expression unless repugnant to the context or meaning thereof be deemed to include its successors and assigns) of the OTHER PART.

Vendor and **Bank** are hereinafter individually referred to as party and collectively referred to as "the Parties". Either of the parties which discloses or receives the confidential information is respectively referred to herein as Disclosing Party and Receiving Party.

WHEREAS:

The Parties intend to engage in discussions and negotiations concerning the establishment of a business relationship between them. In the course of such discussions and negotiations, it is anticipated that both the parties may disclose or deliver to either of the Parties certain or some of its trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information, for the purpose of enabling the other party to evaluate the feasibility of such business relationship (hereinafter referred to as "the Purpose").

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH AND IT IS HEREBY AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO AS FOLLOWS:

1. Confidential Information: "Confidential Information" means all information disclosed/ furnished by either of the parties to another Party in connection with the business transacted/to be transacted between the Parties and/or in the course of discussions and negotiations between them in connection with the Purpose. Confidential Information shall include customer data, any copy, abstract, extract, sample, note or module thereof. Either of the Parties may use the Confidential Information solely for and in connection with the Purpose.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Confidential Information" shall not include any information which the Receiving Party can show: (a) is now or subsequently becomes legally and publicly available without breach of this Agreement by the Receiving Party, (b) was rightfully in the possession of the Receiving Party without any obligation of confidentiality prior to receiving it from the Disclosing Party, (c) was rightfully obtained by the Receiving Party from a source other than the Disclosing Party without any obligation of confidentiality, or (d) was developed by or for the Receiving Party independently and without reference to any Confidential Information and such independent development can be shown by documentary evidence.

2. Non-disclosure: The Receiving Party shall not commercially use or disclose any Confidential Information or any materials derived there from to any other person or entity other than persons in the direct employment of the Receiving Party who have a need to have

access to and knowledge of the Confidential Information solely for the Purpose authorized above. The Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information to consultants only if the consultant has executed a Non-disclosure Agreement with the Receiving Party that contains terms and conditions that are no less restrictive than these. The Receiving Party shall take appropriate measures by instruction and written agreement prior to disclosure to such employees to assure against unauthorized use or disclosure. The Receiving Party agrees to notify the Disclosing Party immediately if it learns of any use or disclosure of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information in violation of the terms of this Agreement. Further, any breach of non-disclosure obligations by such employees or consultants shall be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement by the Receiving Party and the Receiving Party shall be accordingly liable therefore.

Provided that the Receiving Party may disclose Confidential information to a court or governmental agency pursuant to an order of such court or governmental agency as so required by such order, provided that the Receiving Party shall, unless prohibited by law or regulation, promptly notify the Disclosing Party of such order and afford the Disclosing Party the opportunity to seek appropriate protective order relating to such disclosure.

- **3. Publications:** Neither Party shall make news releases, public announcements, give interviews, issue or publish advertisements or publicize in any other manner whatsoever in connection with this Agreement, the contents / provisions thereof, other information relating to this Agreement, the Purpose, the Confidential Information or other matter of this Agreement, without the prior written approval of the other Party.
- **4. Term:** This Agreement shall be effective from the date hereof and shall continue till establishment of business relationship between the Parties and execution of definitive agreements thereafter. Upon expiration or termination as contemplated herein the Receiving Party shall immediately cease any and all disclosures or uses of Confidential Information; and at the request of the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party shall promptly return or destroy all written, graphic or other tangible forms of the Confidential Information and all copies, abstracts, extracts, samples, notes or modules thereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the confidential information shall continue to remain confidential until it reaches the public domain in the normal course.
- **5. Title and Proprietary Rights:** Notwithstanding the disclosure of any Confidential Information by the Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party, the Disclosing Party shall retain title and all intellectual property and proprietary rights in the Confidential Information. No license under any trademark, patent or copyright, or application for same which are now or thereafter may be obtained by such Party is either granted or implied by the conveying of Confidential Information. The Receiving Party shall not conceal, alter, obliterate, mutilate, deface or otherwise interfere with any trademark, trademark notice, copyright notice, confidentiality notice or any notice of any other proprietary right of the Disclosing Party on any copy of the Confidential Information, and shall reproduce any such mark or notice on all copies of such Confidential Information. Likewise, the Receiving Party shall not add or emboss its own or any other mark, symbol or logo on such Confidential Information.
- **6. Return of Confidential Information:** Upon written demand of the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party shall (i) cease using the Confidential Information, (ii) return the Confidential Information and all copies, abstract, extracts, samples, notes or modules thereof to the Disclosing Party within seven (7) days after receipt of notice, and (iii) upon request of the Disclosing Party, certify in writing that the Receiving Party has complied with the obligations set forth in this paragraph.

- **7. Remedies:** The Receiving Party acknowledges that if the Receiving Party fails to comply with any of its obligations hereunder, the Disclosing Party may suffer immediate, irreparable harm for which monetary damages may not be adequate. The Receiving Party agrees that, in addition to all other remedies provided at law or in equity, the Disclosing Party shall be entitled to injunctive relief hereunder.
- **8. Entire Agreement, Amendment, Assignment:** This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties relating to the matters discussed herein and supersedes any and all prior oral discussions and/or written correspondence or agreements between the parties. This Agreement may be amended or modified only with the mutual written consent of the parties. Neither this Agreement nor any right granted hereunder shall be assignable or otherwise transferable.
- **9. Governing Law and Jurisdiction:** The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of India. The disputes, if any, arising out of this Agreement shall be submitted to the jurisdiction of the courts/tribunals in Thiruvananthapuram.
- **10. General:** The Receiving Party shall not reverse-engineer, decompile, disassemble or otherwise interfere with any software disclosed hereunder. All Confidential Information is provided "as is". In no event shall the Disclosing Party be liable for the inaccuracy or incompleteness of the Confidential Information. None of the Confidential Information disclosed by the parties constitutes any representation, warranty, assurance, guarantee or inducement by either party to the other with respect to the fitness of such Confidential Information for any particular purpose or infringement of trademarks, patents, copyrights or any right of third persons.
- **11. Indemnity:** The receiving party should indemnify and keep indemnified, saved, defended, harmless against any loss, damage, costs etc. incurred and / or suffered by the disclosing party arising out of breach of confidentiality obligations under this agreement by the receiving party etc., officers, employees, agents or consultants.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed these presents the day, month and year first hereinabove written.

For and on behalf of Kerala Financial Corporation Name of Authorized Signatory Signatory Designation For and on behalf of M/s. _____ Name of Authorized

Designation